




Dear Shareholder

A s I sit down to write this letter, it is hard to
believe that I only recently celebrated my

one-year anniversary as the CEO of MMC. 2008
proved to be a remarkable year in many ways.
When I joined the company last February, we faced
challenges on several fronts and moved quickly to
address them. As the year progressed, our work
continued amid the pressure of economic conditions
that worsened into what will likely be the most
significant recession of our lifetimes. Looking back
on 2008 now, I am very pleased to report that … while
we must stay vigilant and maintain focus in the face
of continued economic uncertainty … MMC made
significant progress over the course of the year.

In March 2008, a month after becoming CEO, I
presented to our Board of Directors a set of goals



2008 and to manage MMC in a manner that
produces acceptable returns in this difficult
environment.

However, we also need to recognize the
importance of striking the correct balance: We
must manage MMC prudently in the current
environment, but we must undertake the
initiatives and make the appropriate
investments that will better position the
company for long-term growth and stability.

We will continue, for example, to seek
thoughtful, accretive acquisitions that enhance
the market-leading positions of our operating
companies. We will also seek to improve our
technology infrastructure to gain greater
efficiencies and to stay competitive. And we
will invest in people: in attracting talent,
whether individuals or teams, and in retaining
the great professionals already at the firm.
During the past year, we put together a largely
new senior leadership team for MMC. We have
already begun to see the evidence of what this
top-flight group of executives can produce. In
2009, I will be working with this team to ensure
that we are aligned in our focus to execute on
MMC•s short-term goals while making the
decisions necessary to assure long-term success.

My major goals as CEO for 2009 include:

Manage MMC prudently in the face of
uncertainty, resulting in growth in earnings
while protecting the key assets of the firm.

Invest in protecting and enhancing our human
capital through talent development and
increased employee engagement.

Ensure that the MMC Operating Companies,
the MMC Corporate Center and TBS execute
their strategies and react to macro-economic
and market changes in a timely manner.
Specific goals for the Operating Companies
include:

Marsh. Continue the transformation of the
U.S. business and effectively launch Marsh &







INFORMATION CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains •forward-looking statements,Ž as defined in the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements, which express management•s current
views concerning future events or results, use words like •anticipate,Ž •assume,Ž •believe,Ž •continue,Ž
•estimate,Ž •expect,Ž •intend,Ž •plan,Ž •projectŽ and similar terms, and future or conditional tense verbs



� the potential impact of consolidation in the industries we serve, particularly in the reinsurance
industry;

� our ability to successfully obtain payment from our clients of the amounts they owe us for work
performed;

� the impact of, and potential challenges in complying with, legislation and regulation in the
jurisdictions in which we operate, particularly given the global scope of our businesses and the
possibility of conflicting regulatory requirements across the jurisdictions in which we do business;

� our exposure to potential criminal sanctions or civil remedies if we fail to comply with foreign and
U.S. laws and regulations that are applicable to our international operations, including import and
export requirements, U.S. laws such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, and local laws
prohibiting corrupt payments to government officials;

�
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MARSH & McLENNAN COMPANIES, INC.

ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2008

PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS.

References in this report to •weŽ, •usŽ and •ourŽ are to Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc. (•MMCŽ)
and one or more of its subsidiaries, as the context requires.

GENERAL

MMC is a global professional services firm providing advice and solutions in the areas of risk,
strategy and human capital. It is the parent company of a number of the world•s leading risk experts
and specialty consultants, including: Marsh, the insurance broker, intermediary and risk advisor; Guy
Carpenter, the risk and reinsurance specialist; Mercer, the provider of HR and related financial advice
and services; Oliver Wyman Group, the management consultancy; and Kroll, the risk consulting firm.
With approximately 54,000 employees worldwide and 2008 consolidated revenue exceeding $11.5
billion, MMC provides analysis, advice and transactional capabilities to clients in more than 100
countries.

MMC conducts business through three operating segments:

� Risk and Insurance Services includes risk management activities (risk advice, risk transfer
and risk control and mitigation solutions) as well as insurance and reinsurance broking and
services. We conduct business in this segment primarily through Marsh and Guy Carpenter.

� Consulting includes human resource consulting and related outsourcing and investment
services, and specialized management and economic consulting services. We conduct
business in this segment through Mercer and Oliver Wyman Group.

� Risk Consulting & Technology includes risk consulting and related investigative,
intelligence, financial, security and technology services. We conduct business in this segment
through Kroll.

We describe our operating segments in further detail below. We provide financial information
about our segments in our consolidated financial statements included under Part II, Item 8 of this
report.

OUR BUSINESSES

Risk and Insurance Services

Risk and Insurance Services, comprising Marsh and Guy Carpenter , is MMC•s largest business
segment. This segment generated 47% of MMC•s total operating segment revenue in 2008 and
employs approximately 26,900 colleagues worldwide.

Marsh

Marsh is a world leader in delivering risk and insurance services and solutions to its clients. From
its founding in 1871 to the present day, Marsh has provided thought leadership and innovation for
clients and the insurance industry„introducing and promoting the concept and practice of client
representation through brokerage, the discipline of risk management, the globalization of insurance
and risk management services and many other new tools and service platforms.
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Marsh generated approximately 40% of MMC•s total operating segment revenue in 2008. More
than 24,000 Marsh colleagues provide risk management, risk consulting, insurance broking, alternative
risk financing, and insurance program management services to a wide range of businesses,
government entities and professional service organizations around the world in more than 100
countries. Marsh•s clients vary by size, industry, geography and risk exposures.

Insurance Broking and Risk Consulting

In its main insurance broking and risk consulting business, Marsh employs a team approach to
address clients• risk management and insurance needs. Each client relationship is coordinated by a
client executive who draws from the many industry and risk specialties within Marsh to assemble the
resources needed to analyze, measure and assist a client in managing its various risks. Product and
service offerings include program design and placement, post-placement program support and
administration, claims advocacy, and a wide array of risk analysis and risk management consulting
services. Services are organized and provided in three distinct business segments: Large
Organizations, Mid-Size Organizations and Small & Medium Enterprise Organizations.

Large Organizations. Marsh•s Global Risk Management (GRM) Practice focuses on clients with a
broad footprint, including U.S.-based entities with global operations or international companies with
U.S. exposures and insurance program elements. Generally, these clients have highly complex
insurance and risk funding program needs, with a wide array of risk management consulting
requirements. Marsh serves its more than 3,000 GRM clients using a global service model that
provides customized solutions embracing risk transfer, risk mitigation and risk retention brokerage and
consulting services. GRM includes the Multinational Practice, which specializes in the delivery of all
multinational products and services, with a particular focus on programs that require the combination
and coordination of global and local components. Colleagues in this practice specialize in
understanding and prioritizing the local country and worldwide risk issues and needs of each client•s
business, such as those arising from the local regulatory and legal environment.

Mid-Size Organizations. Clients served in this segment (known as •National BrokerageŽ in the
United States) are mid-size firms whose needs vary depending on industry, size, geography and the
competitive environment in which they operate. Many of these clients do not have full-time risk
managers and thus look to Marsh to provide the expertise, advice and solutions required by firms in
their particular industries. Marsh colleagues help these clients develop tailored solutions for their
operational and risk management needs, and coordinate all client program service and support
activities. Marsh brokers provide these clients with insurance program placement, ongoing technical
advice, and management of insurance market relationships.

Small & Medium Enterprise Organizations. The small and medium enterprise (SME) sector is the
fastest growing segment of many economies around the world, and its constituent organizations
generally have special needs for efficient risk management. These clients demand service excellence
and tend to rely heavily on programs and prepackaged products and solutions.

In 2008, Marsh established the Marsh & McLennan Agency to service small to middle market
organizations that tend to be U.S.-based firms with little overseas insurance needs. The Agency is
targeted to customers who seek market knowledge, experience and expertise in a streamlined manner
at competitive prices, and who do not require highly customized product adaptations. The Agency will
offer Commercial Property, Casualty, Directors & Officers Liability, Surety, Employee Benefits and
Personal Lines products through a dedicated sales and service force in retail locations across the
United States.
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Global Consumer„Affinity & Private Client Solutions

In addition to its main risk management and broking practices described above, Marsh operates a
global consumer business that designs, sells, implements and administers insurance-related risk
management and financial service programs for sponsoring clients and high-net-worth individuals.
These programs include group product warranties, professional liability coverage, personal property
and liability coverage, business owner protection, and other security-related products. Marsh
professionals in this business provide consulting, broking, product and program design, marketing and
administration or program management services to client sponsoring organizations, including employer
groups, associations, financial institutions, membership organizations, corporate and other product and
service providers. Other areas of the Consumer business include:

� Private Client Solutions: offers high-net-worth individuals, families and their advisors a single
source solution to manage their complete spectrum of risk, uphold their current quality of life
and preserve their legacy. This business also offers key-person and executive benefit
programs to organizations.

� Business Process Outsourcing Solutions: provides comprehensive, •private labelŽ back-office
operational and marketing support services to leading insurers, financial institutions and other
service businesses.

� Commercial Solutions: offers standardized insurance programs and administrative support„
for both individual and commercial insurance products„to small businesses and franchise
operations.

Risk Advice and Consulting

Marsh Risk Consulting (MRC) is a global organization comprised of consulting specialists
dedicated to providing clients with advice and solutions across a comprehensive range of insurable
and non-insurable risk issues, such as restructuring, acquisitions, product safety, patient safety,



Schinnerer Group

As one of the largest underwriting managers of professional liability and specialty insurance
programs in the United States, Victor O. Schinnerer provides risk management and insurance solutions
to clients through a network of 7,500 licensed brokers.

This group includes the ENCON Group Inc., a leading managing general agent in Canada.
ENCON offers professional liability and construction insurance, as well as group and retiree benefits
programs for individuals, professionals, organizations and businesses, through a national network of
licensed insurance brokers and plan advisors.

Marsh Client Technologies

Marsh Client Technologies comprises MarshConnect, Marsh•s global client technology interface,
and CS STARS, a leading provider of risk and claims management systems and related data services.
MarshConnect provides Marsh clients with real-time information regarding their insurance portfolios
and a broad range of risk and insurance market intelligence and research tools. The portal also
provides a mutual workspace that facilitates information sharing and management between the Marsh
account team and the client.

CS STARS serves the technology needs of risk management professionals, as well as insurance
carriers and third-party administrators, through integrated software and services that support risk
management, claims administration, compliance management, bill review, and data management.

Guy Carpenter

Guy Carpenter generated 7% of MMC•s total operating segment revenue in 2008. More than 2,200
Guy Carpenter professionals create and execute reinsurance and risk management solutions for
clients worldwide, by providing risk assessment analytics, actuarial services, highly specialized product
knowledge and trading relationships with reinsurance markets. Client services also include contract
and claims management and fiduciary accounting. Run-off services and other reinsurance and
insurance administration solutions are offered through Guy Carpenter affiliates on a fee basis.

Acting as a broker or intermediary on all classes of reinsurance, Guy Carpenter places two main
types of property and casualty reinsurance: treaty reinsurance, which involves the transfer of a portfolio
of risks; and facultative reinsurance, which entails the transfer of part or all of the coverage provided by
a single insurance policy.

Guy Carpenter provides reinsurance services in a broad range of specialty practice areas,
including accident and health, agriculture, aviation, casualty clash (losses involving multiple policies or
insureds), construction and engineering, excess and umbrella life, marine, medical, political risk and
trade credit, professional liability, property, retrocessional reinsurance (reinsurance between
reinsurers), surety, terror risk and workers compensation. Guy Carpenter also offers clients alternatives
to traditional reinsurance, including industry loss warranties and, through its affiliates, capital markets
alternatives such as transferring catastrophe risk through the issuance of risk-linked securities.

In addition, Guy Carpenter provides its clients with numerous reinsurance-related services, such
as actuarial, enterprise risk management, financial and regulatory consulting, portfolio analysis and
advice on the efficient use of capital. Guy Carpenter•s Instrat® unit delivers advanced risk assessment
analytics, catastrophe modeling and exposure management tools to assist clients in the reinsurance
decision-making process.

Guy Carpenter offers run-off services for inactive clients in North America and elsewhere through
Reinsurance Solutions LLC and Reinsurance Solutions Limited, respectively. These affiliates also offer
reinsurance and insurance administration solutions on a fee basis.

Compensation for Services in Risk and Insurance Services

Marsh and Guy Carpenter are compensated for brokerage and consulting services primarily
through fees paid by clients and commissions paid out of premiums charged by insurance and
reinsurance companies. Commission rates vary in amount depending upon the type of insurance or
reinsurance coverage provided, the particular insurer or reinsurer, the capacity in which the broker acts
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and negotiations with clients. Marsh and Guy Carpenter receive interest income on certain funds (such
as premiums and claims proceeds) held in a fiduciary capacity for others.

For a more detailed discussion of revenue sources and factors affecting revenue in our Risk and
Insurance Services segment, see Part II, Item 7 (•Management•s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of OperationsŽ) of this report.

Consulting

Consulting is MMC•s second-largest business segment, generating 45% of total operating
segment revenue in 2008 and employing approximately 23,000 colleagues worldwide. MMC conducts
business in this segment through Mercer and Oliver Wyman Group .

Mercer

With more than 19,000 professionals active in 41 countries, Mercer is a leading global provider of
human resource consulting and related outsourcing and investment services. Clients include a majority
of the companies in the Fortune 1000 and FTSE 100, as well as medium- and small-market
organizations. Mercer generated 31% of MMC•s total operating segment revenue in 2008.

Mercer operates in the following areas:

Retirement, Risk & Finance Consulting. Mercer provides a wide range of strategic and
compliance-related retirement services and solutions to corporate, governmental and institutional
clients. Mercer assists clients worldwide in the design and governance of defined benefit, defined
contribution and hybrid retirement plans. Mercer•s financial approach to retirement services enables
clients to consider the benefits, accounting, funding and investment aspects of plan design and
management in the context of business objectives and governance requirements.

Health & Benefits. In its health & benefits business, Mercer assists public and private sector
employers in the design, management and administration of employee health care programs;
compliance with local benefits-related regulations; and the establishment of health and welfare benefits
coverage for employees. Mercer provides advice and solutions to employers on: total health
management strategies; global health brokerage solutions; vendor performance and audit; life and
disability management; and measurement of healthcare provider performance. These services are
provided through traditional consulting as well as commission-based brokerage services in connection
with the selection of insurance companies and healthcare providers.

Other Consulting Lines. Mercer•s human capital business advises organizations on the
engagement, management and rewarding of employees; the design of executive remuneration
programs; and improvement of human resource (HR) effectiveness.

Through proprietary survey data and decision support tools, Mercer•s information products
solutions business provides clients with human capital information and analytical capabilities to
improve strategic human capital decision making.

Mercer•s communication business helps clients to plan and implement HR programs and other
organizational change in order to maximize employee engagement, drive desired employee behavior
and achieve improvements in business performance.

Outsourcing. Through its outsourcing business, Mercer provides benefits administration services
to clients globally. By delivering services across benefit domains and international borders, Mercer
helps clients more efficiently manage their employee benefits programs. Mercer•s outsourcing business
offers total benefits outsourcing, including administration and delivery for wealth, health and flexible
benefits; total retirement outsourcing, including administration and delivery for retirement benefits; and
stand-alone services for defined benefit administration, defined contribution administration, health
benefits administration and flexible benefits programs.

Investment Consulting & Management. Mercer provides investment consulting services to the
fiduciaries of pension funds, foundations, endowments and other investors in more than 35 countries.
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Mercer advises clients on all stages of the institutional investment process, from strategy, structure and
implementation to ongoing portfolio management.

Mercer•s investment management business provides multi-manager investment solutions,
primarily for retirement plan assets, to institutional investors (such as retirement plan sponsors and
trustees), and to individual investors (primarily through the inclusion of funds managed by Mercer on
affiliated and third party defined contribution and financial advice platforms). These solutions include
•one-stopŽ investment advisory and asset management solutions for plan sponsors, bundled services
for frozen defined benefit plans utilizing our expertise in liability-driven investment and actuarial
techniques, and personal wealth solutions. The investment management business offers a diverse
range of investment options to meet a full spectrum of risk/return preferences and manages investment
vehicles across a range of investment strategies in four geographic regions (US, Canada, Europe and
Australia/New Zealand). As of December 31, 2008, Mercer•s investment management business had
assets under management of more than $15.5 billion worldwide.

Oliver Wyman Group

With approximately 4,000 professionals based in 22 countries, Oliver Wyman Group delivers
advisory services to clients through three operating units, each of which is a leader in its field: Oliver
Wyman; Lippincott; and NERA Economic Consulting. Oliver Wyman Group generated 13% of MMC•s
total operating segment revenue in 2008.

Oliver Wyman is a leading global management consulting firm. Oliver Wyman•s consultants
specialize by industry and functional area, allowing clients to benefit from both deep sector knowledge
and specialized expertise in strategy, operations, risk management, organizational transformation, and
leadership development. Industry groups include:

� Automotive;

� Aviation, Aerospace and Defense;

� Communications, Media and Technology;

� Energy;

� Financial services, including corporate and institutional banking, insurance, and retail and
business banking;

� Industrial products and services;

� Health and life sciences;

� Retail and consumer products; and

� Surface transportation.

Oliver Wyman overlays its industry knowledge with expertise in the following functional
specializations:

� Business Transformation. Oliver Wyman advises clients who face major strategic
discontinuities and risks on business model transformation.

� Delta Organization & Leadership. The Delta business provides consulting services and
customized programs to help CEOs and other senior corporate leaders improve their
individual and organizational capabilities. Services include organizational design and
transformation; enterprise leadership and board effectiveness; and the Executive Learning
Center, which provides customized executive education programs to help organizations
develop the leaders they need to compete and grow.

� Finance and Risk. Oliver Wyman works with CFOs and other senior finance and risk
management executives of leading corporations and financial institutions to help them meet
the challenges presented by their evolving roles and the needs of their organizations. Key
areas of focus include risk, capital and performance measurement; performance and value-
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based management; and risk governance amid regulatory changes. Oliver Wyman also offers
actuarial consulting services to public and private enterprises, self-insured group
organizations, insurance companies, government entities, insurance regulatory agencies and
other organizations.

� Marketing and Sales. Oliver Wyman advises leading firms in the areas of offer/pricing
optimization; product/service portfolio management; product innovation; marketing spend
optimization; value-based customer management; and sales & distribution model
transformation.

� Operations and Technology. Oliver Wyman offers market-leading IT organization design, IT
economics management, Lean Six Sigma principles and methodologies, and sourcing
expertise to clients across a broad range of industries.

� Strategy. Oliver Wyman is a leading provider of corporate strategy advice and solutions in the



Kroll•s business intelligence and investigations unit provides: reputational due diligence associated
with investments and transactions; information gathering and analysis; investigative services; litigation
support; assistance in locating misappropriated assets; and programs to protect intellectual property,
prevent money laundering and ensure the integrity of vendors.

Kroll•s financial advisory services unit provides forensic accounting and litigation consulting to help
clients uncover fraud, comply with securities and corporate governance regulations and assess
financial damages for insurance claims and litigation. Through 2008, this unit also included a valuation
services practice; this business was transferred to Marsh Risk Consulting in January 2009.

Kroll•s security services operation serves clients worldwide, including multinational corporations,
government agencies, high-net-worth individuals, architectural firms, and private and public sector
organizations. Services include: security consulting; architectural security engineering; executive
protection; high risk environment intelligence and protective services; and crisis response programs.
Kroll also conducts security clearance investigations of government personnel and monitors law
enforcement agencies and other public and private entities• compliance with federal consent decrees
and other government mandates.

Litigation Support and Data Recovery . Kroll•s Litigation Support and Data Recovery unit
provides its services through Kroll Ontrack. Kroll Ontrack provides technology-driven services and
software to help legal, corporate and governmental entities, as well as consumers, recover, search,
analyze, produce and present electronic data efficiently and cost-effectively. These services are
provided to organizations and individuals in the United States, Canada, Europe and Asia. In addition to
its award-winning suite of software, Kroll Ontrack provides data recovery, advanced search, electronic
and paper discovery, computer forensics, electronically stored information (•ESIŽ) consulting and trial
consulting and presentation services.

Background Screening. Kroll•s Background Screening companies provide organizations with
comprehensive screening services that help them make informed choices in such critical areas as
employment, lending, vendor selection, investment placement and academic institutional admissions. It
also provides data breach incident management … including identity theft solutions for individuals.

Kroll Background Screening provides employment screening and substance abuse testing to
corporate, institutional and government clients in the United States, Canada, Europe, Asia and Africa.
Through its Fraud Solutions practice, it helps organizations and individuals address each phase of
personal data theft detection and mitigation, from pre-breach preparedness, risk assessment and
planning to post-event customer communication, investigation and resolution.

Kroll Factual Data offers credit-related information services to mortgage and consumer lending
businesses, property management firms and governmental organizations in the United States.

Compensation for Services in Risk Consulting & Technology

Kroll receives compensation in the form of fees paid by clients. These fees are typically earned on
an hourly, project, fixed fee or per-unit basis. For a more detailed discussion of revenue sources and
factors affecting revenue in our Risk Consulting & Technology segment, see Part II, Item 7
(•Management•s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of OperationsŽ) of this
report.

Regulation

MMC•s activities are subject to licensing requirements and extensive regulation under United
States federal and state laws, as well as laws of other countries in which MMC•s subsidiaries operate.
See Part I, Item 1A (•Risk FactorsŽ) below for a discussion of how actions by regulatory authorities or
changes in legislation and regulation in the jurisdictions in which we operate may have an adverse
effect on our businesses.

Risk and Insurance Services . While laws and regulations vary from location to location, every
state of the United States and most foreign jurisdictions require insurance market intermediaries and
related service providers (such as insurance brokers, agents and consultants, reinsurance brokers,
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managing general agents and third party administrators) to hold an individual and/or company license
from a governmental agency or self-regulatory organization. Some jurisdictions issue licenses only to
individual residents or locally-owned business entities; in this case, if MMC has no licensed subsidiary,
we may maintain arrangements with residents or business entities licensed to act in such jurisdiction.

Beginning in January 2005, all European Union member states were required to implement the
Insurance Mediation Directive. This Directive aims to apply consistent minimum professional standards
to insurance intermediaries, including a licensing system based on an assessment of factors such as
professional competence, financial capacity and professional indemnity insurance. As member states
of the European Union adopt regulations to comply with the Directive, our insurance intermediary
operations in the European Union have become subject to enhanced regulatory requirements. In
January 2005, as part of the implementation of the Directive in the United Kingdom, the power and
responsibilities of the Financial Services Authority, or FSA, were expanded to include regulation of
insurance and reinsurance intermediaries in the United Kingdom.

Insurance authorities in the United States and certain other jurisdictions in which MMC•s
subsidiaries do business, including the FSA in the United Kingdom, also have enacted laws and
regulations governing the investment of funds, such as premiums and claims proceeds, held in a
fiduciary capacity for others. These laws and regulations typically provide for segregation of these
fiduciary funds and limit the types of investments that may be made with them.

Certain of MMC•s Risk and Insurance Services activities are governed by other regulatory bodies,
such as investment, securities and futures licensing authorities. In the United States, Marsh and Guy
Carpenter use the services of MMC Securities Corp., a U.S.-registered broker-dealer and investment
advisor, member FINRA/SIPC, primarily in connection with investment banking-related services and
advising on alternative risk financing transactions. Also in the United States, Marsh uses the services
of Interlink Securities Corp., primarily in connection with variable insurance products. Guy Carpenter
provides advice on securities or investments in the European Union through MMC Securities (Europe)
Ltd. (formerly GC Securities Ltd.), which is authorized and regulated by the FSA. Marsh receives
investment management services in the European Union from another MMC subsidiary, Marsh
Investment Service Limited, which is also regulated by the FSA. MMC Securities Corp., Interlink
Securities Corp. and MMC Securities (Europe) Ltd. are indirect, wholly-owned subsidiaries of MMC.

In some jurisdictions, insurance-related taxes may be due either directly from clients or from the
insurance broker. In the latter case, the broker customarily looks to the client for payment.

Consulting . Certain of Mercer•s retirement-related consulting services are subject to pension law
and financial regulation in many countries, including by the Securities and Exchange Commission, or
SEC, in the United States and the FSA in the United Kingdom. In addition, the trustee services,
investment services (including advice to individuals on the investment of personal pension assets and
assumption of discretionary investment management responsibilities) and retirement and employee
benefit program administrative services provided by Mercer and its subsidiaries and affiliates are
subject to investment and securities regulations in various jurisdictions. The benefits insurance
consulting and brokerage services provided by Mercer and its subsidiaries and affiliates are subject to
the same licensing requirements and regulatory oversight as the insurance market intermediaries
described above regarding our Risk and Insurance Services businesses. In the United States, Mercer
and Oliver Wyman Group use the services of MMC Securities Corp. primarily in connection with the
sale of retirement and employee benefit plans, and investment banking services, respectively.

Risk Consulting & Technology . Certain of Kroll•s risk consulting and investigative activities are
licensed and regulated at the federal, state and local level in the United States and abroad. Many of
these activities also involve the use of data from outside sources, including third party vendors and
governmental records. As a result, changes in existing, or the implementation of new laws and
regulations, particularly relating to privacy, could interfere with Kroll•s historical access to and use of
such data. Substance abuse testing laboratories operated by a Kroll subsidiary are certified on the
federal level and licensed in a number of states.
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Competitive Conditions

MMC faces strong competition in all of its businesses from providers of similar products and
services. MMC also encounters strong competition throughout its businesses from both public
corporations and private firms in attracting and retaining qualified employees. In addition to the discussion
below, see •Risks Relating to MMC Generally …Competitive Risks,Ž in Part I, Item 1A of this report.



Employees

As of December 31, 2008, MMC and its consolidated subsidiaries employed approximately 54,400
people worldwide, including approximately 26,900 in risk and insurance services, approximately 23,000
in consulting and approximately 3,900 in Risk Consulting & Technology. Approximately 600 individuals
are employed by MMC at the parent-company level.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF MMC

The executive officers of MMC are appointed annually by MMC•s Board of Directors. As of
February 27, 2009, the following individuals were executive officers of MMC:

Ben F. Allen, age 44, is president and chief executive officer of Kroll, a position he assumed in
March 2008. In July 2007 Mr. Allen was named chief operating officer of Kroll while continuing in his
position as president of Kroll•s Technology Services Group. He led the Technology Services Group,
comprised of Kroll Ontrack, Kroll Factual Data and Kroll•s background screening and substance abuse
testing businesses, beginning in January 2005. Previously, Mr. Allen was president of Kroll Ontrack,
the firm•s legal technologies and data recovery business, following Kroll•s acquisition of Ontrack Data
International, Inc. in June 2002. Mr. Allen had been president and chief executive officer of Ontrack
Data International since July 2001, and previously served in several roles for that firm, including as
chief operating officer and general manager of the U.K. and France offices.

Orlando D. Ashford, age 40, is senior vice president, Human Resources, of MMC. Mr. Ashford
joined MMC in September 2008. Prior to MMC, he was with the Coca-Cola Company since 2005 in
human resource management, most recently as Group Director of Human Resources for Eurasia and
Africa. While at Coca-Cola, Mr. Ashford reorganized and rebuilt the company•s corporate center HR
team and headed a company-wide cultural change initiative. Prior to Coca-Cola, Mr. Ashford held
positions with Motorola, the Delta Consulting Group (subsequently Mercer Delta Consulting),
Ameritech and Andersen Consulting.

Peter J. Beshar, age 47, is executive vice president and general counsel of MMC. Before joining
MMC in November 2004, Mr. Beshar was a litigation partner in the law firm of Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher
LLP. Mr. Beshar joined Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher in 1995 after serving as an Assistant Attorney
General in the New York Attorney General•s office and as the special assistant to Cyrus Vance in
connection with the peace negotiations in the former Yugoslavia.

M. Michele Burns, age 51, is chairwoman and chief executive officer of Mercer. Ms. Burns joined
MMC as executive vice president on March 1, 2006, assumed the position of chief financial officer of
MMC on March 31, 2006 and moved to her current position with Mercer on September 25, 2006. Prior
to joining MMC, Ms. Burns was executive vice president and chief financial officer since May 2004, and
chief restructuring officer since August 2004, of Mirant Corporation, an energy company. Prior to
joining Mirant, she was executive vice president and chief financial officer of Delta Air Lines, Inc. from
August 2000 to April 2004. She held various other positions in the finance and tax departments of
Delta beginning in January 1999. Delta filed for protection under Chapter 11 of the United States
Bankruptcy Code in September 2005.

John P. Drzik, age 46, is president and chief executive officer of Oliver Wyman Group, a position
he assumed in June 2006. From 2003 to 2006, Mr. Drzik was president of Mercer Oliver Wyman,
which was formed following MMC•s acquisition of Oliver, Wyman & Company in 2003. He joined Oliver,
Wyman & Company in 1984, became president in 1995, and was appointed chairman in 2000.

Brian Duperreault, age 61, is president and chief executive officer of MMC, a position he assumed
in January 2008. Prior to joining MMC, Mr. Duperreault served as chairman and chief executive officer
of ACE Limited from 1994 to 2004, and continued as chairman through the end of 2007. Prior to ACE,
Mr. Duperreault was with American International Group (AIG) for more than 20 years, holding
numerous positions and eventually becoming executive vice president of AIG Foreign General
Insurance and chairman and chief executive of AIG•s American International Underwriters (AIU).
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Company since September 2004. Prior thereto, he was counsel, litigation and legal policy at GE.
Between 1986 and 1992, when he joined GE, he served as an Assistant United States Attorney for the
Southern District of New York.

Daniel S. Glaser, age 48, is chairman and chief executive officer of Marsh, a position he assumed
in December 2007. Previously, he had been managing director of AIG Europe (U.K.) Limited, and the
regional president of AIG•s American International Underwriters (AIU) U.K./Ireland division. He joined
AIG in 2000 as president of the firm•s Global Energy Division. He was named managing director of AIG
Europe (U.K.) in 2002. Mr. Glaser began his career in the insurance industry in 1982 as a Marsh
broker. He worked at Marsh for a decade, serving in roles in New York, London and Saudi Arabia.
Thereafter, he spent eight years at Willis, where he served as president and chief operating officer of
Willis Risk Solutions, the Willis large accounts practice.

David Nadler, age 60, is vice chairman, office of the CEO, of MMC. Dr. Nadler founded the Delta
Consulting Group, Inc., a consulting firm specializing in executive leadership and organizational
change, in 1980. He served as chairman and chief executive officer of that firm until its acquisition by
Mercer in 2000, when it became Mercer Delta Consulting. Dr. Nadler served as chairman and chief
executive officer of Oliver Wyman•s Delta Organization & Leadership business through December
2005 and remains a senior partner of that firm.

Vanessa A. Wittman, age 41, is executive vice president and chief financial officer of MMC. Prior
to joining MMC in September 2008, Ms. Wittman was chief financial officer and executive vice
president of Adelphia Communications Corp. from 2003 to 2007. She joined Adelphia as part of a new
executive team that oversaw one of the most complex bankruptcy cases in U.S. history. While there,
Ms. Wittman was responsible for accounting, tax and internal audit functions; operational and field
finance; corporate development; and the bankruptcy and investor relations teams. Prior to Adelphia,
Ms. Wittman served as chief financial officer of 360networks, based in Seattle. She also has held
positions with Microsoft, Metricom Inc. and Morgan Stanley.

Peter Zaffino, age 42, is president and chief executive officer of Guy Carpenter. Prior to assuming



Item 1A. Risk Factors

You should consider the risks described below in conjunction with the other information presented
in this report. These risks have the potential to materially adversely affect MMC•s business, results of
operations or financial condition.

RISKS RELATING TO MMC GENERALLY

Legal and Regulatory Issues

We are subject to legal proceedings and other contingencies which, if determined
unfavorably to us, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations
or financial condition.

As more fully described in Note 16 to our consolidated financial statements included under Part II,
Item 8 of this report, we are subject to a number of legal proceedings, regulatory actions and other
contingencies. An adverse outcome in connection with one or more of these matters could have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition in any given
quarterly or annual period. In addition, regardless of any eventual monetary costs, these matters could
have a material adverse effect on MMC by exposing us to negative publicity, reputational damage,
harm to our client or employee relationships, or diversion of personnel and management resources.

We are subject to significant uninsured exposures arising from •errors and omissionsŽ
claims.

MMC•s operating companies provide numerous brokerage, consulting, actuarial and other services
for clients around the world. As a result of these activities, we are subject to errors and omissions, or
•E&O,Ž claims by clients and third parties who allege that they were damaged as a result of the
operating company•s alleged failure to perform its services as expected, such as those claims alleged
in separate lawsuits by the Alaska Retirement Management Board and Milwaukee County against
Mercer. Certain E&O claims seek damages, including punitive damages, in amounts that could, if
awarded, be significant and subject MMC, in addition to potential liability for monetary damages, to
reputational harm and diversion of personnel and management resources. As described below, for
certain policy years, we have limited third party insurance for E&O matters, including the Alaska
Retirement Management Board and Milwaukee County matters.

MMC has varying levels of third party insurance coverage against E&O claims, depending on the
policy year. To the extent that expected losses exceed MMC•s retention in any policy year, MMC
records a liability and an asset for the amount that MMC expects to recover under its third-party
insurance programs. The policy limits and coverage terms of the third-party insurance vary to some
extent by policy year, but MMC is not aware of coverage defenses or other obstacles to coverage that
would limit recoveries in years prior to policy year 2001-2002 in a material amount.

In policy years subsequent to 2001-2002, the availability of third-party insurance has declined
significantly, which has caused MMC to assume increasing levels of self-insurance for its potential
E&O exposures. MMC utilizes internal actuarial and other estimates, and case level reviews by inside
and outside counsel, to establish loss reserves, in accordance with SFAS No. 5 (•Accounting for
ContingenciesŽ), to provide for its loss retention. These reserves are reviewed quarterly and adjusted
as developments warrant. Nevertheless, given the unpredictability of E&O claims and of litigation that
could flow from them, it is possible that an adverse outcome in a particular matter could have a
material adverse effect on MMC•s results of operations, financial condition or cash flow in a given
quarterly or annual period.

Our compliance systems and controls cannot guarantee that we are in compliance with all
potentially applicable U.S. federal and state or foreign laws and regulations, and actions by
regulatory authorities or changes in legislation and regulation in the jurisdictions in which we
operate may have an adverse effect on our business.

Our activities are subject to extensive regulation under the laws of the United States and its
various states, the European Union and its member states, and the other jurisdictions in which we
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operate. For example, our insurance and reinsurance services activities, as well as certain of our
consulting and related activities, in the United Kingdom are under the jurisdiction of the Financial
Services Authority. Compliance with foreign and U.S. laws and regulations that are applicable to our
international operations is complex and may increase our cost of doing business in international
jurisdictions. These laws and regulations include import and export requirements, U.S. laws such as
the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, and local laws prohibiting corrupt payments to governmental
officials. While we attempt to comply with all applicable laws and regulations, there can be no
assurance that we, our employees, our consultants or our contractors are in full compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations or interpretations of these laws and regulations at all times or that we
will be able to comply with any future laws, regulations or interpretations of these laws and regulations.
If we fail to comply with applicable laws and regulations, including those referred to above, we may be
subject to investigations, criminal sanctions or civil remedies, including fines, injunctions, loss of an
operating license or approval, the suspension of individual employees, limitations on engaging in a
particular business or redress to clients. The cost of compliance or the consequences of
non-compliance could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. In
addition, these matters could have a material adverse effect on MMC by exposing us to negative
publicity, reputational damage or harm to our client or employee relationships.

In most jurisdictions, government regulatory authorities have the power to interpret or amend
applicable laws and regulations, and have discretion to grant, renew and revoke various licenses and
approvals we need to conduct our activities. Such authorities may require MMC to incur substantial
increases in costs in order to comply with such laws and regulations. In some areas of our businesses,
we act on the basis of our own or the industry•s interpretations of applicable laws or regulations, which
may conflict from state to state or country to country. In the event those interpretations eventually
prove different from those of regulatory authorities, we might be penalized or precluded from carrying
on our previous activities. Moreover, the laws and regulations to which we are subject may conflict
among the various jurisdictions and countries in which we provide services. Any significant impairment
of our ability to conduct our business as we historically have done could have a material adverse effect
on our business, results of operations or financial condition.

Finally, government involvement in the insurance or reinsurance markets could displace insurance
or reinsurance currently available from the private market and adversely affect our financial condition
and results of operations.

Improper disclosure of personal data could result in legal liability or harm our reputation.

One of our significant responsibilities is to maintain the security and privacy of our clients•
confidential and proprietary information and the personal data of their employees and retirement and
other benefit plan participants. We maintain policies, procedures and technological safeguards
designed to protect the security and privacy of this information. Nonetheless, we cannot entirely
eliminate the risk of improper access to or disclosure of personally identifiable information. Such
disclosure could harm our reputation and subject us to liability under our contracts and laws that
protect personal data, resulting in increased costs or loss of revenue.

Further, data privacy is subject to frequently changing rules and regulations, which sometimes
conflict among the various jurisdictions and countries in which we provide services. Our failure to
adhere to or successfully implement processes in response to changing regulatory requirements in this
area could result in legal liability or impairment to our reputation in the marketplace.

International Operations

We are exposed to multiple risks associated with the global nature of our operations.

We do business worldwide. In 2008, 54 percent of MMC•s total operating segment revenue was
generated from operations outside the United States, and over one-half of our employees are located
abroad. We expect to expand our non-U.S. operations further.
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The geographic breadth of our activities subjects us to significant legal, economic, operational,
market and reputational risks. These include, among others, risks relating to:

… economic and political conditions in foreign countries, including the recent disruption in the
global financial markets;

… international hostilities, terrorist activities, natural disasters and infrastructure disruptions;

… local investment or other financial restrictions that foreign governments may impose;

… potential costs and difficulties in complying, or monitoring compliance, with rules relating to
trade sanctions administered by the U.S. Office of Foreign Assets Control, the requirements
of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or other U.S. laws and regulations applicable to
business operations abroad;

… limitations that foreign governments may impose on the conversion of currency or the
payment of dividends or other remittances to us from our non-U.S. subsidiaries;



Competitive Risks

Each of MMC•s businesses operates in a highly competitive environment. If we fail to
compete effectively, our business and results of operations will suffer.

As a global professional services firm, MMC experiences acute and continuous competition in
each of its operating segments. Our ability to compete successfully depends on a variety of factors,
including our geographic reach, the sophistication and quality of our services, and our pricing relative
to our competitors. If we are unable to respond successfully to the competition we face, our business
and results of operations will suffer.

In our Risk and Insurance Services segment, we compete intensely against two other major global
brokerage firms, Aon and Willis, for both client business and employee talent. We also face
competition from a wide range of other insurance brokerage firms that operate on a regional, national



Our businesses face rapid technological changes and our failure to adequately anticipate
or respond to these changes could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

To remain competitive in many of our business areas, we must identify the most current
technologies and methodologies and integrate them into our service offerings. For example, Guy
Carpenter•s risk-modeling services are increasingly dependent on implementing advanced software
and data-compilation tools; Kroll•s e-discovery business depends on advanced search technology and
computerized document processing; and Mercer•s ability to price its outsourcing services competitively
is highly dependent on the efficient and cost effective use of technology. If we do not make the correct
technology choices or investments, or if our choices or investments are insufficiently prompt or cost-
effective, our business and results of operations could suffer.

Financial Risks

Our results of operations could be adversely affected by economic and political conditions
and the effects of these conditions on our clients• businesses and levels of business activity.

Global economic and political conditions affect our clients• businesses and the markets they serve.
Recently, the credit markets and the financial services industry have been experiencing a period of
unprecedented turmoil and upheaval characterized by the bankruptcy, failure, collapse or sale of



Changes in interest rates and increased counterparty risk could reduce the value of our
investment portfolio and adversely affect our financial condition or results.

The recent failures, bankruptcies, rescues and distressed acquisitions of previously highly rated
financial institutions indicate a possibly dramatic realignment of companies in the financial services
sector and reflect the market•s lack of a clear understanding of the financial health of financial
institutions. Many widely-held investments previously rated investment grade have declined in value
precipitously and unexpectedly in recent months, resulting in substantial trading and investment losses
for corporate and other investors. In order to avoid these risks, investors have favored securities
issued, guaranteed or supported by the U.S. or international governments, which has resulted in
reduced yields on these and other investments considered to be lower risk. Although we generally
employ a conservative investment strategy with respect to our cash investments, including those held
in a fiduciary capacity, we may incur investment losses as a result of these unusual and unpredictable
market developments and we may experience reduced investment earnings if the yields on
investments deemed to be low risk remain low or decline further in this time of economic uncertainty.

Credit rating downgrades would increase our financing costs and could subject us to
operational risk.

Both Moody•s and Standard & Poor•s downgraded MMC•s senior debt credit rating in late 2004
and S&P announced a further downgrade in December 2007. Currently, MMC•s senior debt is rated
Baa2 by Moody•s and BBB- by S&P. These ratings are the next-to-lowest investment grade rating for
Moody•s, and the lowest investment-grade rating for S&P.

If we need to raise capital in the future (for example, in order to fund maturing debt obligations or
finance acquisitions or other initiatives), any further credit rating downgrade would increase our
financing costs, and could limit our access to financing sources. Further, we believe that a downgrade
to a rating below investment-grade could result in greater operational risks through increased operating
costs and increased competitive pressures.

Our pension obligations may cause MMC•s earnings and cash flows to fluctuate.

MMC has significant pension obligations to its current and former employees, totaling
approximately $8.5 billion at December 31, 2008. The magnitude of our worldwide pension plans
means that our earnings are comparatively sensitive to factors such as equity and bond market
returns, the assumed interest rates we use to discount our pension liabilities, rates of inflation and
mortality assumptions. Variations in any of these factors could cause significant fluctuation in our
earnings from year to year and may result in increased levels of contributions to our pension plans.

Acquisitions and Dispositions

We face risks when we acquire and dispose of businesses.

We have a history of making acquisitions, including our $1.9 billion acquisition of Kroll in July 2004
and a total of 44 acquisitions in the period 2005-2008 for aggregate purchase consideration of $593
million. We have also exited various businesses, including the sale of Putnam in August 2007 and the
divestiture of three separate restructuring businesses … one in the U.S. and two in the U.K. … in 2008.
We expect that targeted acquisitions and dispositions will continue to be part of our business strategy.
Our success in this regard will depend on our ability to identify appropriate acquisition and disposition
candidates and to complete with favorable results the transactions we decide to pursue.

While we intend that our acquisitions will improve our competitiveness and profitability, we cannot
be certain that our past or future acquisitions will be accretive to earnings or otherwise meet our
operational or strategic expectations. Acquisitions involve special risks, including the potential
assumption of unanticipated liabilities and contingencies and difficulties in integrating acquired
businesses, and acquired businesses may not achieve the levels of revenue, profit or productivity we



MMC•s goodwill and intangible assets, a write-down of this sort could have a material adverse effect on
our results of operations in any given period. As of December 31, 2008, MMC•s consolidated balance
sheet reflected $7.2 billion of goodwill and intangible assets, representing approximately 47 percent of
MMC•s total consolidated assets and allocated by reporting segment as follows: Risk and Insurance



In addition to the possibility of continued competitive disadvantage as described above, Marsh
faces risks relating to the implementation of its new business model. Marsh is currently seeking to
increase revenue through higher commissions and fees that are disclosed to its clients, and to
generate profitable revenue growth by focusing on the provision of value-added risk advisory services
beyond traditional brokerage activities. Marsh•s current business and compensation model continues to
evolve and in some respects remains untested, including Marsh•s creation of placement hubs and the
launch of Marsh & McLennan Agency for the small and emerging growth sector. We cannot be certain
that it will generate the profitable revenue growth we are targeting. The inability to derive adequate
revenues from Marsh•s current business and compensation model may significantly impede
improvement in our operating results and profitability.

Results in our Risk and Insurance Services segment may be adversely affected by a
general decline in economic activity.

Demand for many types of insurance and reinsurance generally rises and falls as economic growth
expands or slows. This dynamic affects the level of commissions and fees generated by Marsh and Guy
Carpenter. To the extent our clients become adversely affected by declining business conditions, they
may choose to limit their purchases of insurance and reinsurance coverage, as applicable, which would
inhibit our ability to generate commission revenue; and may decide not to purchase our risk advisory
services, which would inhibit our ability to generate fee revenue. Moreover, a growing number of
insolvencies and combinations associated with an economic downturn, especially insolvencies and
combinations in the insurance industry, could adversely affect our brokerage business through the loss
of clients or by hampering our ability to place insurance and reinsurance business. Guy Carpenter is
especially susceptible to this risk given the limited number of insurance company clients and reinsurers
in the market place.

RISKS RELATING TO OUR CONSULTING AND RISK CONSULTING & TECHNOLOGY
SEGMENTS

Our Consulting segment, conducted through Mercer and Oliver Wyman Group, represented 45
percent of our total operating segment revenue in 2008. Our Risk Consulting & Technology segment,
conducted through Kroll, represented 9 percent of our total operating segment revenue in 2008. Our
businesses in these two segments are subject to particular risks.

Demand for our services might decrease for various reasons, including a general economic
downturn, a decline in a client•s or an industry•s financial condition, or changes in government
regulation.

Our Consulting and Risk Consulting & Technology segments have historically achieved significant
annual revenue growth. Despite this history, however, the current global economic conditions have
resulted in negative impacts on businesses and financial institutions, and financial services entities in
particular. Many of our clients, especially in the financial services industry, have been reducing
expenses, including amounts spent on consulting services. The evolving needs or financial
circumstances of our clients may challenge our ability to increase revenues and profitability and reduce
demand for our services. If the economy or markets in which we operate experience continued
weakness at current levels or deteriorate further, our business, financial condition and results of
operations could be materially and adversely affected.

In addition, demand for many of Mercer•s benefits services is affected by government regulation
and tax rules, which drive our clients• needs for benefits-related services. For example, significant
changes in government regulations affecting the value, use or delivery of benefits and human
resources programs, including changes in regulations relating to health and welfare plans, defined
contribution plans, or defined benefit plans, may adversely affect the demand for or profitability of
Mercer•s services.
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Our profitability may suffer if we are unable to achieve or maintain adequate utilization and
pricing rates for our consultants.

The profitability of our Consulting and Risk Consulting & Technology businesses depends in part
on ensuring that our consultants maintain adequate utilization rates (i.e., the percentage of our
consultants• working hours devoted to billable activities). Our utilization rates are affected by a number
of factors, including:

… our ability to transition consultants promptly from completed projects to new assignments, and
to engage newly hired consultants quickly in revenue-generating activities;

… our ability to continually secure new business engagements, particularly because a portion of
our work is project-based rather than recurring in nature;

… our ability to forecast demand for our services and thereby maintain appropriate headcount in
each of our geographies and workforces;

… our ability to manage attrition;

… unanticipated changes in the scope of client engagements;

… the potential for conflicts of interest that might require us to decline client engagements that
we otherwise would have accepted;

… our need to devote time and resources to sales, training, professional development and other
non-billable activities; and

… general economic conditions.

The factors listed above, and therefore also our utilization rates for service personnel, have been
adversely affected by recent macroeconomic conditions. If the utilization rate for our consulting
professionals continues to decline, our profit margin and profitability would suffer.

In addition, the profitability of our Consulting and Risk Consulting & Technology businesses
depends on the prices we are able to charge for our services. Our pricing power is affected by a
number of factors, including:

… clients• perception of our ability to add value through our services;

… market demand for the services we provide;

… our ability to develop new services and the introduction of new services by competitors;

… the pricing policies of our competitors;

… changes in the extent to which our clients develop in-house or other capabilities to perform
the services that they might otherwise purchase from us; and

… general economic conditions.

Our pricing has also been adversely affected by the current economic crisis. If we are unable to
achieve and maintain adequate billing rates for our consultants, our profit margin and profitability could
suffer.

Our quarterly revenues and profitability may fluctuate significantly.

Quarterly variations in revenues and operating results at Mercer, Oliver Wyman Group and Kroll
may occur due to several factors. These include:

… the significance of client engagements commenced and completed during a quarter;

… the unpredictability of the timing and amount of success fees;

… the possibility that clients may decide to delay or terminate a current or anticipated project as
a result of factors unrelated to our work product or progress;
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… fluctuations in consultant hiring and utilization rates and clients• ability to terminate
engagements without penalty;

… seasonality at Mercer due to the impact of regulatory deadlines and other timing factors to
which our clients are subject;

… the success of our strategic acquisitions, alliances or investments;

… macroeconomic factors such as changes in foreign exchange rates, interest rates and global
securities markets; and

… general economic conditions, since results of operations in our Consulting and Risk
Consulting & Technology businesses are directly affected by the levels of business activity of
our clients, which in turn are affected by the level of economic activity in the industries and
markets that they serve.

A significant portion of total operating expenses at Mercer, Oliver Wyman Group and Kroll is
relatively fixed. Therefore, a variation in the number of client assignments or in the timing of the
initiation or the completion of client assignments can cause significant variations in quarterly operating
results for these businesses.

If we are unable to collect our receivables or unbilled services, our results of operations
and cash flows could be adversely affected.

Our business depends on our ability to successfully obtain payment from our clients of the
amounts they owe us for work performed. We evaluate the financial condition of our clients and usually
bill and collect on relatively short cycles. There is no guarantee that we will accurately assess the
creditworthiness of our clients. Macroeconomic conditions could also result in financial difficulties for
our clients, and as a result could cause clients to delay payments to us, request modifications to their
payment arrangements that could increase our receivables balance, or default on their payment
obligations to us. The increasing number of insolvencies in the current economic environment and the
numerous bankruptcy laws to which they are subject could also adversely affect our ability to collect
receivables or unbilled services. Timely collection of client balances depends on our ability to complete
our contractual commitments and bill and collect our contracted revenues. If we are unable to meet our
contractual requirements, we might experience delays in collection of and/or be unable to collect our
client balances, and if this occurs, our results of operations and cash flows could be adversely affected.
In addition, if we experience an increase in the time to bill and collect for our services, our cash flows
could be adversely affected.

Acceleration of the shift by employers from defined benefit plans to defined contribution
plans could adversely affect Mercer•s operating results.

Mercer currently provides clients with actuarial and consulting services relating to both defined
benefit and defined contribution plans. Defined benefit pension plans generally require more services
than defined contribution plans because defined benefit plans typically involve large asset pools,
complex calculations to determine employer costs, funding requirements and sophisticated analysis to
match liabilities and assets over long periods of time. Recent regulatory initiatives in the United States
and certain European countries may result in companies either discontinuing or curtailing defined
benefit programs in favor of defined contribution plans. If organizations shift to defined contribution
plans more rapidly than we anticipate and we do not successfully adjust our service offerings to take
account of that change, Mercer•s operating results could be adversely affected.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

There are no unresolved comments to be reported pursuant to Item 1B.
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Item 2. Properties.

MMC and its subsidiaries maintain their corporate headquarters in and around New York City. We
also maintain other offices around the world, primarily in leased space. In certain circumstances, we
may have space that we sublet to third parties, depending upon our needs in particular locations.

MMC and certain of its subsidiaries own, directly and indirectly through special-purpose
subsidiaries, a 55% condominium interest covering approximately 900,000 square feet in a 44-story
building in New York City. MMC•s owned interest is financed by a loan that is non-recourse to MMC
(except in the event of certain prohibited actions) and secured by a first mortgage lien on the
condominium interest and a first priority assignment of leases and rents. In the event of a default in the
payment of the loan and certain credit rating downgrade events, MMC would be obligated to pay rent
for the entire occupancy of the mortgaged property.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

Information regarding legal proceedings is set forth in Note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements appearing under Part II, Item 8 (•Financial Statements and Other Supplementary DataŽ) of
this report.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

None.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for MMC•s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer
Purchases of Equity Securities.

For information regarding dividends paid and the number of holders of MMC•s common stock, see
the table entitled •Selected Quarterly Financial Data and Supplemental Information (Unaudited)Ž below
on the last page of Part II, Item 8 (•Financial Statements and Other Supplementary DataŽ) of this
report.

MMC•s common stock is listed on the New York, Chicago and London Stock Exchanges. The
following table indicates the high and low prices (NYSE composite quotations) of MMC•s common
stock during 2008 and 2007 and each quarterly period thereof:

2008
Stock Price Range

2007
Stock Price Range

High Low High Low





Item 7. Management•s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations.

General

Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc. and Subsidiaries (•MMCŽ) is a global professional services firm
providing advice and solutions in the areas of risk, strategy, and human capital. MMC•s subsidiaries
include Marsh, which provides risk and insurance services; Guy Carpenter, which provides reinsurance
services; Mercer, which provides human resource and related financial advice and services; Oliver
Wyman Group, which provides management consulting and other services and Kroll, which provides
risk consulting and technology services. MMC•s approximately 54,000 employees worldwide provide
analysis, advice and transactional capabilities to clients in over 100 countries.

MMC•s business segments are based on the services provided. Risk and Insurance Services includes
risk management and insurance and reinsurance broking and services, provided primarily by Marsh



Consolidated Results of Operations

For the Years Ended December 31,
(In millions, except per share figures) 2008 2007 2006

Revenue $11,587 $11,177 $10,340
Expense

Compensation and benefits 7,207 6,958 6,449
Other operating expenses 3,577 3,373 2,943
Goodwill impairment charge 540 „ „

Operating expenses 11,324 10,331 9,392
Operating Income $ 263 $ 846 $ 948
(Loss) Income from Continuing Operations $ (69) $ 538 $ 632
Discontinued Operations, net of tax (4) 1,937 358
Net (Loss) Income $ (73) $ 2,475 $ 990
(Loss) Income from Continuing Operations Per Share:

Basic $ (0.13) $ 1.00 $ 1.15
Diluted $ (0.13) $ 0.99 $ 1.14

Net (Loss) Income Per Share:
Basic $ (0.14) $ 4.60 $ 1.80
Diluted $ (0.14) $ 4.53 $ 1.76

Average number of shares outstanding:
Basic 514 539 549
Diluted 514 546 557

Shares outstanding at December 31, 514 520 552

Consolidated operating income was $263 million in 2008 compared with $846 million in the prior year.
The 2008 results include the negative impact of a $540 million goodwill impairment charge related to
the Risk Consulting & Technology segment and restructuring related items of $388 million in 2008,
including the $28 million loss on the sale of the U.K. restructuring businesses, compared with
restructuring costs of $105 million in 2007. Excluding these charges, consolidated operating income
was $1.2 billion in 2008 compared with $951 million in 2007.

Risk and Insurance Services operating income increased $118 million to $460 million in 2008
compared with 2007, or 35%, despite an increase of $149 million in restructuring and related charges.

Consulting•s operating income decreased $51 million to $555 million in 2008. Restructuring and related
charges in 2008 at Mercer were $40 million compared with $8 million of such charges recorded in
2007.

Risk Consulting & Technology incurred an operating loss of $497 million in 2008 compared with $98
million of operating income in 2007. Operating results in 2008 include the $540 million goodwill
impairment charge, restructuring and related charges of $17 million and a loss on the disposal of its
U.K. restructuring businesses of $28 million. There were no similar charges recognized in this segment
in 2007.

Corporate expenses increased $55 million to $255 million in 2008. In 2008, corporate expenses
include $85 million of restructuring and related charges primarily resulting from estimated future rent
and other real estate costs to exit space in MMC•s New York headquarters building and previously
vacated space in the U.K. and other locations. Restructuring and related charges were $28 million in
2007.

The consolidated net loss was $73 million in 2008, which includes charges of $928 million related to
the goodwill impairment and restructuring and related charges, compared with net income of $2.5
billion in the prior year. Results for 2007 include a $1.9 billion gain on the disposal of Putnam, partly
offset by restructuring and related charges of $105 million.

Discontinued operations in 2007 primarily includes the gain on disposal of Putnam.
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Consolidated Revenues and Expenses

MMC conducts business in many countries, as a result of which the impact of foreign exchange rate
movements may impact period-to-period comparisons of revenue. Similarly, the revenue impact of
acquisitions and dispositions may impact period-to-period comparisons of revenue. Underlying revenue
measures the change in revenue from one period to another by isolating these impacts. The impact of
foreign currency exchange fluctuations, acquisitions and dispositions on MMC•s operating revenues by
segment is as follows:

Year Ended
December 31,

Components of Revenue Change

(In millions, except percentage figures)
% Change
Revenue

Currency
Impact

Acquisitions/
Dispositions

Impact
Underlying
Revenue2008 2007

Risk and Insurance Services
Marsh $ 4,524 $ 4,369 4%* 1% „ 2%*
Guy Carpenter 803 854 (6)% 1% „ (7)%
Fiduciary Interest Income 139 177 (22)% 1% „ (23)%

Total Risk and Insurance Services 5,466 5,400 1% 1% „ „
Consulting
Mercer 3,642 3,368 8% „ 1% 7%
Oliver Wyman Group 1,554 1,516 2% 1% 3% (2)%

Total Consulting 5,196 4,884 6% „ 2% 4%
Risk Consulting & Technology
Kroll 866 815 6% „ 4% 2%
Corporate Advisory and Restructuring 127 172 (26)% (1)% „ (25)%

Total Risk Consulting & Technology 993 987 1% „ 4% (3)%
Total Operating Segments 11,655 11,271 3% 1% 1% 1%
Corporate/Eliminations (68) (94)

Total Revenue $11,587 $11,177 4% 1% 1% 2%

Year Ended
December 31,

Components of Revenue Change

(In millions, except percentage figures)
% Change
Revenue

Currency
Impact

Acquisitions/
Dispositions

Impact
Underlying
Revenue2008 2007

Marsh:
EMEA $1,706 $1,618 5% 2% „ 3%
Asia Pacific 412 374 10% 2% „ 8%
Latin America 252 239 6% 5% (5)% 6%

Total International 2,370 2,231 6% 2% „ 4%
U.S. and Canada 2,154 2,138 1% „ „ 1%

Total Marsh $4,524 $4,369 4%* 1% „ 2%*
Mercer:
Retirement $1,178 $1,079 9% „ 4% 5%
Health and Benefits 898 827 9% 1% „ 8%
Other Consulting Lines 555 509 9% 2% (1)% 8%

Total Mercer Consulting 2,631 2,415 9% 1% 1% 7%
Outsourcing 702 682 3% (1)% „ 4%
Investment Consulting & Management 309 271 14% (2)% „ 16%

Total Mercer $3,642 $3,368 8% „ 1% 7%
Kroll:
Litigation Support and Data Recovery $ 326 $ 272 20% „ 14% 6%
Background Screening 263 297 (11)% „ „ (11)%
Risk Mitigation and Response 277 246 12% „ „ 12%

Total Kroll $ 866 $ 815 6% „ 4% 2%

* Marsh•s revenue growth and underlying revenue growth were 3.6% and 2.4%, respectively. The
columns do not add due to rounding.
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Year Ended
December 31,

Components of Revenue Change

(In millions, except percentage figures)
% Change
Revenue

Currency
Impact

Acquisitions/
Dispositions

Impact
Underlying
Revenue2007 2006

Risk and Insurance Services
Marsh $ 4,369 $ 4,263 3% 4% „ (1)%





Putnam Transaction

On August 3, 2007, Great-West Lifeco Inc. completed its purchase of Putnam Investments Trust for
$3.9 billion in cash. The gain on disposal and Putnam•s results of operations through the date of sale,
are included in discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated statements of income. As
described in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, MMC provided certain indemnities related
to the transaction, and also has established liabilities for uncertain tax positions. As these issues are
resolved, or as facts and circumstances related to these issues change in the future, the related
liabilities will be adjusted and will be recorded in discontinued operations.

Other Businesses Exited

During the fourth quarter of 2008, MMC sold its U.S. and U.K. restructuring businesses to their
respective management teams in separate leveraged buyouts. Based on the terms and conditions of
the disposals, MMC determined it has •continuing involvementŽ in these businesses, as that term is
used in SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin Topic 5e. MMC recorded a loss of $28 million on the disposition
of the U.K. Corporate Advisory and Restructuring businesses. The net assets of these U.K. businesses
were written-off upon transfer to the new owners. MMC will receive royalties on future revenue of these
businesses over the next four years. The royalties will be recognized when earned under the terms of
the contract and when collectibility is reasonably assured. The transfer of the U.S. restructuring
business was financed with a seller note. If MMC receives interest and principal payments as
scheduled for the U.S. business, it will recover the value of the net assets transferred to the new
owners and recognize a gain on the disposal of $18 million.

Risk and Insurance Services

In the Risk and Insurance Services segment, MMC•s subsidiaries and other affiliated entities act as
brokers, agents or consultants for insureds, insurance underwriters and other brokers in the areas of
risk management, insurance broking and insurance program management services, primarily under the
name of Marsh; and engage in reinsurance broking, catastrophe and financial modeling services and
related advisory functions, primarily under the name of Guy Carpenter.

Marsh and Guy Carpenter are compensated for brokerage and consulting services primarily through
fees paid by clients and/or commissions paid out of premiums charged by insurance and reinsurance
companies. Commission rates vary in amount depending upon the type of insurance or reinsurance
coverage provided, the particular insurer or reinsurer, the capacity in which the broker acts and
negotiations with clients. Revenues are affected by premium rate levels in the insurance/reinsurance
markets, the amount of risk retained by insurance and reinsurance clients themselves and by the value
of the risks that have been insured since commission based compensation is frequently related to the
premiums paid by insureds/reinsureds. In many cases, compensation may be negotiated in advance,
based on the types and amounts of risks to be analyzed by MMC and ultimately placed into the
insurance market or retained by the client. The trends and comparisons of revenue from one period to
the next will therefore be affected by changes in premium rate levels, fluctuations in client risk
retention, and increases or decreases in the value of risks that have been insured, as well as new and
lost business, and the volume of business from new and existing clients.

Marsh and Guy Carpenter receive interest income on certain funds (such as premiums and claims
proceeds) held in a fiduciary capacity for others. The investment of fiduciary funds is regulated by state
and other insurance authorities. These regulations typically provide for segregation of fiduciary funds
and limit the types of investments that may be made with them. Interest income from these
investments varies depending on the amount of funds invested and applicable interest rates, both of
which vary from time to time. For presentation purposes, fiduciary interest is now segregated within the
segment from the other revenues of Marsh and Guy Carpenter, as shown in the charts on pages 29
and 30.
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The results of operations for the Risk and Insurance Services segment are presented below:

(In millions of dollars) 2008 2007 2006

Revenue $5,466 $5,400 $5,263

Compensation and Benefits 3,299 3,318 3,207





of the U.K. restructuring businesses. The net assets of the U.K. businesses were written-off upon
transfer to the new owners. MMC will receive royalties on future revenue of these businesses over the
next four years. The royalties will be recognized when earned under the terms of the contract and
when collectibility is reasonably assured. The transfer of the U.S. restructuring business was financed
with a seller note. If MMC receives interest and principal payments as scheduled for the U.S. business,
it will recover the value of the net assets transferred to the new owners and recognize a gain on the
disposal of $18 million.

Kroll receives compensation primarily in the form of fees paid by clients. These fees are typically
earned on an hourly, project, fixed fee or per-unit basis. Kroll•s revenue is subject to changes in
international economic and regulatory conditions, including the levels of mortgage applications and





Corporate Items

Corporate Expenses

Corporate expenses were $255 million in 2008, compared to $200 million in 2007. In 2008, expenses
include $85 million of restructuring and related charges comprising a $62 million charge related to
estimated future rent and other real estate costs to exit five floors in MMC•s New York headquarters
building and previously vacated space in the U.K. and other locations. In 2007, restructuring and
related items were $28 million. Expenses in 2008 include a $10 million credit for a payment from U.S.
Investigative Services, Inc. (•USISŽ) in connection with the hiring of MMC•s former CEO, partly offset by
costs related to the departure of several senior executives.

Corporate expenses were $200 million in 2007, compared to $137 million in 2006. In 2007, corporate
expenses included $28 million for restructuring and related charges, including a credit from an accrual



In 2007, MMC adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48, •Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes„an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109Ž (•FIN 48Ž), which clarifies the
accounting for uncertainty in income tax positions. Uncertain tax positions are evaluated based upon
the facts and circumstances that exist at each reporting period. Subsequent changes in judgment
resulting from new information may lead to changes in recognition, derecognition, and measurement.



obligation for the U.S. plans. While our U.S. plans show a funding deficit as of the end of 2008, no
contributions to the U.S. plan are required in 2009.

Due to an increase in the discount rate and a reduction in inflation expectations, our U.K. plan liabilities
decreased slightly in local currency terms in 2008. Although we make scheduled contributions to the
U.K. plan throughout the year, in January 2009, we made a discretionary pension contribution of $70
million to the plan. We expect to contribute a similar amount in the second quarter of 2009. These
contributions are included in the $370 million of expected contributions noted above. Overall, MMC•s
aggregate pension expense in 2009 will be similar to that of 2008.

During 2008, MMC contributed approximately $20 million to the U.S. pension plans and $250 million to
the significant non-U.S. pension plans, compared with $20 million for U.S. plans and $189 million for
significant non-U.S. plans in 2007.



MMC•s senior debt is currently rated Baa2 by Moody•s and BBB- by Standard & Poor•s. MMC•s short-
term debt is currently rated P-2 by Moody•s and A-3 by Standard & Poor•s. MMC carries a stable
outlook from both Moody•s and Standard & Poor•s. In December 2007, Standard & Poor•s lowered its
rating on MMC•s long-term debt from BBB to BBB- and lowered the rating on MMC•s short-term debt
from A-2 to A-3.

MMC also maintains other credit facilities, guarantees and letters of credit with various banks, primarily
related to operations located outside the United States, aggregating $285 million at December 31,
2008 and $265 million at December 31, 2007. There were no outstanding borrowings under these
facilities at December 31, 2008.

Share Repurchases

In August 2007, MMC entered into an $800 million accelerated share repurchase agreement with a
financial institution counterparty. Under the terms of the agreement, MMC paid the full $800 million
purchase price and took delivery from the counterparty of an initial tranche of 21,320,530 shares of
MMC common stock, which were reflected as an increase in Treasury shares (a decrease in shares
outstanding) on the delivery date. This number of shares was the quotient of the $800 million purchase
price divided by a contractual •capŽ price of $37.5225 per share. Based on the market price of MMC•s
common stock over the subsequent settlement period, in March 2008 the counterparty delivered to
MMC an additional 10,751,000 shares for no additional payment and the transaction was concluded.
MMC thus repurchased a total of 32,071,630 shares at an average price per share to MMC of
$24.9442. The repurchased shares were reflected as an increase in Treasury shares (a decrease in
shares outstanding) on the respective delivery dates. This transaction was effected under a $1.5 billion
share repurchase authorization granted by MMC•s Board of Directors in August 2007. MMC remains
authorized to repurchase additional shares of its common stock up to a value of $700 million. There is
no time limit on this authorization.

In May 2007, MMC entered into a $500 million accelerated share repurchase agreement with a
financial institution counterparty. Under the terms of the agreement, MMC paid the full $500 million
purchase price and took delivery from the counterparty of an initial tranche of 13,464,749 shares of
MMC common stock. Based on the market price of MMC•s common stock over the subsequent
settlement period, in July 2007 the counterparty delivered to MMC an additional 2,555,519 shares for
no additional payment and the transaction was concluded. MMC thus repurchased a total of
16,020,268 shares in the transaction, for a total cost of $500 million and an average price per share to
MMC of $31.2105. The repurchased shares were reflected as an increase in Treasury shares (a
decrease in shares outstanding) on the respective delivery dates. This transaction was effected under
a $500 million share repurchase authorization granted by MMC•s Board of Directors in May 2007.

MMC did not repurchase any shares in 2008.

Dividends

MMC paid total dividends of $412 million in 2008 ($0.80 per share), $413 million ($0.76 per share) in



MMC has committed to potential future investments of approximately $81 million in connection with its
investments in Trident II and other funds managed by Stone Point Capital, LLC. The majority of MMC•s
investment commitments for funds managed by Stone Point Capital, LLC are related to Trident II, the
investment period for which is now closed for new investments. Any remaining capital calls for Trident
II would relate to follow-on investments in existing portfolio companies or for management fees or other
partnership expenses. Significant future capital calls related to Trident II are not expected. Although it
is anticipated that Trident II will be harvesting its remaining portfolio, the timing of any portfolio
company sales and capital distributions is unknown and not controlled by MMC.

Commitments and Obligations

MMC•s contractual obligations of the types identified in the table below were of the following amounts
as of December 31, 2008:

Payment due by Period
Contractual Obligations
(In millions of dollars) Total

Within
1 Year

1-3
Years

4-5
Years

After 5
Years

Current portion of long-term debt $ 408 $408 $ „ $ „ $ „
Long-term debt 3,198 „ 567 518 2,113
Net operating leases 2,937 386 682 532 1,337
Service agreements 145 54 46 29 16
Other long-term obligations 60 25 35 „ „

Total $6,748 $873 $1,330 $1,079 $3,466

The above does not include unrecognized tax benefits of $293 million, accounted for under FIN 48, as
MMC is unable to reasonably predict the timing of settlement of these liabilities, other than
approximately $20 million that may become payable during 2009. The above does not include liabilities



invest pursuant to a Board approved investment policy. The policy mandates the preservation of
principal and liquidity and requires broad diversification with counterparty limits assigned based
primarily on credit rating and type of investment. MMC carefully monitors its cash and fiduciary fund
investments and will further restrict the portfolio as appropriate to market conditions. The majority of
cash and fiduciary funds are invested in short-term bank deposits and liquid money market funds.

Foreign Currency Risk

The translated values of revenue and expense from MMC•s international Risk and Insurance Services
and Consulting operations are subject to fluctuations due to changes in currency exchange rates. The
non-U.S. based revenue that is exposed to foreign exchange fluctuations is approximately 54% of total
revenue. Note 17 details revenue by geographic area. We periodically use forward contracts and
options to limit foreign currency exchange rate exposure on net income and cash flows for specific,
clearly defined transactions arising in the ordinary course of business.

Equity Price Risk

MMC holds investments in public and private companies, as well as in certain private equity funds
managed by Stone Point Capital. Publicly traded investments of $21 million are classified as available
for sale under SFAS No. 115. Non-publicly traded investments of $91 million are accounted for using
the cost method and $207 million are accounted for using the equity method under APB Opinion
No. 18, •The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common StockŽ. The investments that
are classified as available for sale or that are not publicly traded are subject to risk of changes in
market value, which if determined to be other than temporary, could result in realized impairment
losses. MMC periodically reviews the carrying value of such investments to determine if any valuation
adjustments are appropriate under the applicable accounting pronouncements.

Other

A significant number of lawsuits and regulatory proceedings are pending. See Note 16 to the



In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (•FASBŽ) issued SFAS No. 158,
•Employers• Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans … an amendment
of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132RŽ (•SFAS 158Ž). SFAS 158 requires that MMC
recognize the funded status of its overfunded defined benefit pension and retiree medical plans (the
•PlansŽ) as a net benefit plan asset and its unfunded and underfunded plans as a net benefit plan
liability. The gains or losses and prior service costs or credits that have not been recognized as
components of net periodic costs are recorded as a component of Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Income (•AOCIŽ), net of tax, in MMC•s consolidated balance sheets. MMC adopted the provisions of
SFAS 158, prospectively, on December 31, 2006.

The determination of net periodic pension cost is based on a number of actuarial assumptions,
including an expected long-term rate of return on plan assets, the discount rate and assumed rate of
salary increase. Significant assumptions used in the calculation of net periodic pension costs and
pension liabilities are disclosed in Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements. MMC believes the
assumptions for each plan are reasonable and appropriate and will continue to evaluate actuarial
assumptions at least annually and adjust them as appropriate. Based on its current assumptions, MMC
expects pension expense in 2009 to be essentially the same as 2008.

Future pension expense or credits will depend on plan provisions, future investment performance,
future assumptions and various other factors related to the populations participating in the pension
plans. Holding all other assumptions constant, a half-percentage point change in the rate of return and
discount rate assumptions would affect net periodic pension cost for the U.S. and U.K. plans, which
comprise approximately 85% of total pension plan liabilities, as follows:

0.5 Percentage
Point Increase

0.5 Percentage
Point Decrease

(In millions of dollars) U.S. U.K. U.S. U.K.

Assumed Rate of Return $(16.5) $(28.9) $16.5 $28.9
Discount Rate $(19.2) $(41.8) $28.7 $46.8

Changing the discount rate and leaving the other assumptions constant may not be representative of
the impact on expense, because the long-term rates of inflation and salary increases are often
correlated with the discount rate.

MMC contributes to certain health care and life insurance benefits provided to its retired employees.
The cost of these postretirement benefits for employees in the United States is accrued during the
period up to the date employees are eligible to retire, but is funded by MMC as incurred. This
postretirement liability is included in Other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. The key
assumptions and sensitivity to changes in the assumed health care cost trend rate are discussed in
Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

Income Taxes



is measured as the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely of being realized
upon ultimate resolution with a taxing authority.

Uncertain tax positions are evaluated based upon the facts and circumstances that exist at each
reporting period and involve significant management judgment. Subsequent changes in judgment
based upon new information may lead to changes in recognition, derecognition, and measurement.
Adjustments may result, for example, upon resolution of an issue with the taxing authorities, or
expiration of a statute of limitations barring an assessment for an issue. Prior to January 1, 2007, MMC
estimated its uncertain income tax obligations in accordance with SFAS 109 and SFAS 5. MMC
recognizes interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense.

Tax law requires items be included in MMC•s tax returns at different times than the items are reflected



Goodwill Impairment Testing„Under SFAS 142, MMC is required to assess goodwill and any
indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually, or more frequently if circumstances indicate
impairment may have occurred. MMC performs the annual impairment test for each of its reporting
units during the third quarter of each year. Fair values of the reporting units are estimated using a
market approach or a discounted cash flow model. Carrying values for the reporting units are based on



Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income

For the Years Ended December 31,
(In millions, except per share figures) 2008 2007 2006

Revenue $11,587 $11,177 $10,340

Expense:
Compensation and benefits 7,207 6,958 6,449
Other operating expenses 3,577 3,373 2,943
Goodwill impairment charge 540 „ „

Operating expenses 11,324 10,331 9,392

Operating income 263 846 948
Interest income 48 95 60
Interest expense (220) (267) (303)
Investment income (loss) (12) 173 207

Income before income taxes and minority interest 79 847 912
Income taxes 137 295 272
Minority interest, net of tax 11 14 8

(Loss) Income from continuing operations (69) 538 632
Discontinued operations, net of tax (4) 1,937 358

Net (loss) income $ (73) $ 2,475 $ 990

Basic net (loss) income per share „ Continuing operations $ (0.13) $ 1.00 $ 1.15
„ Net income $ (0.14) $ 4.60 $ 1.80

Diluted net (loss) income per share „ Continuing operations $ (0.13) $ 0.99 $ 1.14
„ Net income $ (0.14) $ 4.53 $ 1.76





Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the Years Ended December 31,
(In millions of dollars) 2008 2007 2006

Operating cash flows:
Net (loss) income $ (73) $ 2,475 $ 990
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash generated from

operations:
Goodwill impairment charge 540 „ „
Depreciation and amortization of fixed assets and capitalized

software 332 366 391
Amortization of intangible assets 72 76 97
Provision for deferred income taxes 103 12 60
(Gains)/losses on investments 20 (176) (222)
(Gains)/losses on disposition of assets 52 (1,833) (218)
Accrual of stock-based compensation 34 71 116

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Net receivables 270 (321) (157)
Other current assets (18) 370 (651)
Other assets (106) 49 (73)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (149) (350) 682
Accrued compensation and employee benefits (76) (28) 94
Accrued income taxes (159) (1,141) (242)
Other liabilities (211) (4) (184)
Effect of exchange rate changes 206 49 103

Net cash (used for) provided by operations 837 (385) 786

Financing cash flows:
Proceeds from issuance of debt „ 3 322
Repayments of debt (260) (1,120) (888)
Purchase of treasury shares „ (1,300) „
Issuance of common stock 132 186 181
Dividends paid (412) (413) (374)

Net cash used for financing activities (540) (2,644) (759)

Investing cash flows:
Capital expenditures (386) (378) (307)
Net sales (purchases) of long-term investments 97 211 (15)
Proceeds from sales related to fixed assets 11 11 136
Dispositions 56 3,357 375
Acquisitions (126) (206) (221)
Other, net „ 1 (12)

Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities (348) 2,996 (44)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (397) 77 73

(Decrease) Increase in cash and cash equivalents (448) 44 56

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 2,133 2,089 2,033

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 1,685 2,133 2,089

Cash and cash equivalents … reported as discontinued operations „ „ (74)

Cash and cash equivalents … continuing operations $1,685 $ 2,133 $2,015

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements.
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Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations: Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc. (•MMCŽ), a global professional services
firm, is organized based on the different services that it offers. Under this organizational structure,
MMC•s three business segments are Risk and Insurance Services, Consulting and Risk Consulting &
Technology. As noted below, on August 3, 2007 Great-West Lifeco Inc. completed its purchase of
Putnam, MMC•s former investment management segment.

As discussed in Note 5, MMC disposed of several businesses from 2006 through 2008, which are
classified as discontinued operations in these financial statements.

The Risk and Insurance Services segment provides risk management and insurance broking,
reinsurance broking and insurance program management services for businesses, public entities,





period in which they become known. Expenses incurred by professional staff in the generation of
revenue are billed to the client and included in revenue. Kroll records either billed or unbilled accounts
receivable based on case-by-case invoicing determinations. Revenue from sales of software is
recognized when the product is shipped, with the exception of royalty-based products, for which
revenue is recognized as applicable royalty reports are received. Revenue from software sales is
recorded net of estimated customer returns and allowances. Contingent fees are recognized as earned
and upon satisfaction of all conditions to their payment.

Cash and Cash Equivalents: Cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of certificates of deposit
and time deposits, with original maturities of three months or less, and money market funds.

Fixed Assets: Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization.
Expenditures for improvements are capitalized. Upon sale or retirement, the cost and related
accumulated depreciation and amortization are removed from the accounts and any gain or loss is
reflected in income. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as incurred.

Depreciation of buildings, building improvements, furniture, and equipment is provided on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful lives of these assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized on a
straight-line basis over the periods covered by the applicable leases or the estimated useful life of the
improvement, whichever is less. MMC periodically reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever
events or changes indicate that the carrying value of assets may not be recoverable.

The components of fixed assets are as follows:

December 31,
(In millions of dollars) 2008 2007

Furniture and equipment $ 1,152 $ 1,257
Land and buildings 395 410
Leasehold and building improvements 723 699

` 2,270 2,366
Less-accumulated depreciation and amortization (1,301) (1,374)

$ 969 $ 992

Investment Securities: MMC holds investments in both public and private companies, as well as
certain private equity funds. Publicly traded investments are classified as available for sale in



of the reporting units are estimated using a market approach or a discounted cash flow model.
Carrying values for the reporting units are based on balances at the prior quarter end and include
directly identified assets and liabilities as well as an allocation of those assets and liabilities not
recorded at the reporting unit level. Other intangible assets that are not deemed to have an indefinite
life are amortized over their estimated lives and reviewed for impairment upon the occurrence of
certain triggering events in accordance with applicable accounting literature. MMC had no indefinite
lived identified intangible assets at December 31, 2008 or 2007.

Capitalized Software Costs: MMC capitalizes certain costs to develop, purchase or modify software
for the internal use of MMC. These costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over periods ranging
from three to ten years. Costs incurred during the preliminary project stage and post implementation
stage are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred during the application development stage are
capitalized. Costs related to updates and enhancements are only capitalized if they will result in
additional functionality. Capitalized computer software costs of $214 million and $242 million, net of
accumulated amortization of $433 million and $450 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007,
respectively, are included in Other assets in the consolidated balance sheets.

Legal and Other Loss Contingencies: MMC and its subsidiaries are subject to a significant number
of claims, lawsuits and proceedings. MMC records liabilities for contingencies including legal costs
when it is probable that a liability has been incurred before the balance sheet date and the amount can
be reasonably estimated. To the extent such losses can be recovered under MMC•s insurance
programs, estimated recoveries are recorded when losses for insured events are recognized.
Significant management judgment is required to estimate the amounts of such contingent liabilities and
the related insurance recoveries. MMC analyzes its litigation exposure based on available information,
including consultation with outside counsel handling the defense of these matters, to assess its
potential liability. Contingent liabilities are not discounted.

Income Taxes: MMC•s tax rate reflects its income, statutory tax rates and tax planning in the various
jurisdictions in which it operates. Significant judgment is required in determining the annual tax rate
and in evaluating uncertain tax positions. On January 1, 2007 MMC adopted the provisions of FASB





common shares outstanding, however, they have not been included in the calculation since the
Company reported a net loss.

Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results may vary from those estimates.

Reclassifications and Corrections: Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year amounts
to conform with current year presentation, in particular with regard to reclassification of certain items
between compensation and benefits and other operating expenses in the consolidated income
statements amounting to $73 million and $66 million in 2007 and 2006, respectively.

During 2008, MMC recorded corrections to (1) the 2007 tax provision related to the Putnam transaction
in the third quarter of 2008; and (2) foreign currency transaction gains and losses related to certain
inter-company balances. The correction related to foreign currency transactions represents the net
impact of gains arising in 2007 and prior years and a loss arising in 2008, which resulted in a net
charge of $17 million in the fourth quarter of 2008. Under relevant accounting guidance, an entity must
consider the materiality of errors on both the •iron curtainŽ and •rolloverŽ methods. Because MMC
recorded the adjustment, there is no unrecorded misstatement at December 31, 2008 under the iron
curtain method. When considering this error using the rollover method, MMC•s loss from continuing
operations in 2008 would have been approximately $30 million higher if the gains related to prior years
had been correctly recorded in those prior years. MMC determined that the impact of these corrections
was immaterial to its current and prior period financial statements when taken as a whole.

New Accounting Pronouncements: Effective January 1, 2008, MMC adopted the provisions of
SFAS No. 157 related to items that are recognized or disclosed in the financial statements on a
recurring basis. SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value,
establishes a fair value hierarchy based on the quality of inputs used to measure fair value and
expands required disclosures about fair value measurements. The adoption of SFAS 157 did not have



or a hybrid), (2) the length of time and the extent to which the market value has been less than cost,
(3) the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer; or (4) the intent and ability of the
holder to retain its investment in the issuer for a sufficient time to allow for any anticipated recovery in
market value. The FSP was effective October 10, 2008. The SEC and FASB Staff stated that because
fair value measurements and the assessment of impairment will likely require significant use of
judgment, issuers must be sure to provide investors with clear and transparent disclosures. The FSP
did not have a material impact on MMC•s financial condition or reported results.

Future Application of New Accounting Pronouncements:

On December 4, 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 141 (revised 2007), •Business CombinationsŽ (•SFAS
141RŽ), and SFAS 160, •Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial StatementsŽ (•SFAS 160Ž).



considered common stock equivalents in MMC•s diluted earnings per share calculation. The impact on
MMC•s diluted net income per share for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 that will be
restated as required by FSP 03-6-1 beginning in the first quarter of 2009, is as follows:

As Reported
As Amended

Per Two-Step Method

2008 2007 2008 2007

Diluted Earnings Per Share
Continuing $(0.13) $0.99 $(0.12) $0.97
Net Income $(0.14) $4.53 $(0.13) $4.46

On November 24, 2008, the FASB ratified EITF Issue No. 08-7 •Accounting for Defensive Intangible
AssetsŽ (•Issue No. 08-7Ž) which provides that a defensive intangible asset should be accounted for as
a separate unit of accounting. It should be valued separately from other intangible assets because the
defensive intangible asset is separately identifiable. Issue 08-7 also requires defensive intangible
assets to be assigned a useful life in accordance with paragraph 11 of Statement 142. Issue 08-7 will
be effective for defensive intangible assets acquired on or after December 15, 2008. The impact of
adopting Issue No. 08-7 will depend upon the nature of MMC•s future acquisitions.

On November 24, 2008, the FASB ratified EITF Issue No. 08-6 •Equity Method Investment Accounting
ConsiderationsŽ (•Issue No. 08-06Ž) to address the impact of business combination accounting under
FASB Statement 141R and Statement 160 on the application of the equity method. Issue No. 08-6
requires entities to measure equity-method investments initially at cost and to recognize other-than-
temporary impairment of equity-method investments in accordance with APB Opinion 18, •The Equity
Method of Accounting for Investments in Common StockŽ (•Opinion 18Ž). Equity-method investors
should not separately test an investee•s underlying asset(s) for impairment but they should recognize
their share of any impairment charge recorded by an investee in accordance with Opinion 18.

Issue No.08-6 requires equity-method investors to account for a share issuance by an investee as if
the investor had sold a proportionate share of its investment. Any gain or loss resulting from an
investee•s share issuance should be recognized in earnings. Issue No. 08-6 should be applied
prospectively and is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008, and interim
periods within those fiscal years. The impact of Issue No. 08-6 on MMC•s future results will depend on
whether transactions within its scope occur in the future.

On December 30, 2008 the FASB issued Staff Position No. FAS 132R-1, •Employers• Disclosures
about Post Retirement Benefit Plan AssetsŽ (•The FSPŽ), an amendment of SFAS No. 132 (revised
2003), •Employers• Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement BenefitsŽ. The FSP requires
disclosures about fair value measurements of plan assets similar to those required by Statement 157
as well as (a) how investment allocation decisions are made, (b) the major categories of plan assets,
and (c) significant concentrations of risk within plan assets. This FSP is effective for fiscal years ending
after December 15, 2009. Comparative information for earlier periods is not required at initial adoption.
MMC is evaluating the impact of adopting the provisions of this FSP.
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2. Supplemental Disclosures

The following schedule provides additional information concerning acquisitions, interest and income
taxes paid:

For the Years Ended December 31,
(In millions of dollars) 2008 2007 2006

Purchase acquisitions:
Assets acquired, excluding cash $249



The components of accumulated other comprehensive loss are as follows:

December 31,
(In millions of dollars) 2008 2007

Foreign currency translation adjustments $ (257) $ 512
Net unrealized investment gains 25 14
Net charges under SFAS 158 (1,866) (877)

$(2,098) $(351)

4. Acquisitions and Dispositions

During 2008, MMC completed 12 acquisitions, for total purchase consideration of $166 million and also
paid $14 million of contingent purchase consideration related to prior acquisitions. The allocation of
purchase consideration and contingent purchase consideration paid resulted in acquired goodwill and
other intangible assets, amounting to $125 million and $56 million. Estimated fair values of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed are subject to adjustment when purchase accounting is finalized.

5. Discontinued Operations

In 2008, discontinued operations includes three discontinued operations„Putnam, Mediservice and
Kroll Crucible„which are discussed in more detail below.

With regard to Putnam, discontinued operations in 2008 includes (1) the impact of immaterial
corrections and other adjustments to the fourth quarter of 2007 tax provision related to the transaction,





Goodwill allocable to each of MMC•s reportable segments is as follows: Risk and Insurance Services
$3.7 billion; Consulting $2.0 billion; and Risk Consulting & Technology $1.1 billion. Amortized intangible
assets consist of the cost of client lists, client relationships and trade names acquired. The gross cost
and accumulated amortization is as follows:

2008 2007

December 31,
(In millions of dollars)

Gross
Cost

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying
Amount

Gross
Cost

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying
Amount

Amortized intangibles $681 $343 $338 $706 $335 $371

Aggregate amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $72
million, $66 million and $80 million, respectively, and the estimated future aggregate amortization
expense is as follows:

For the Years Ending December 31,
(In millions of dollars) Estimated Expense

2009 $ 57
2010 51
2011 44
2012 38
2013 30
Subsequent years 118

$338

7. Income Taxes

Income before income taxes and minority interest shown below is based on the geographic location to
which such income is attributable. Although income taxes related to such income may be assessed in
more than one jurisdiction, the income tax provision corresponds to the geographic location of the
income.

For the Years Ended December 31,
(In millions of dollars) 2008 2007 2006

Income before income taxes and minority interest:
U.S. $(839) $ 66 $233
Other 918 781 679

$ 79 $847 $912

Income taxes:
Current…

U.S. Federal $ (65) $ (29) $ (68)
Other national governments 158 208 224
U.S. state and local 29 67 65

122 246 221

Deferred…
U.S. Federal (45) 39 140
Other national governments 112 39 (59)
U.S. state and local (52) (29) (30)

15 49 51

Total income taxes $ 137 $295 $272
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The significant components of deferred income tax assets and liabilities and their balance sheet
classifications are as follows:

December 31,
(In millions of dollars) 2008 2007

Deferred tax assets:
Accrued expenses not currently deductible $ 586 $ 704
Differences related to non-U.S. operations 215 332
Accrued retirement & postretirement benefits „ non-U.S. operations 91 „
Accrued retirement benefits U.S. 363 „
Net operating losses (a) 114 101
Income currently recognized for tax 60 51
Other 148 58

$1,577 $1,246

Deferred tax liabilities:
Unrealized investment holding gains $ 14 $ 8
Differences related to non-U.S. operations 61 160
Depreciation and amortization 152 82
Accrued retirement & postretirement benefits … non-U.S. operations „ 66
Accrued retirement benefits „ 91
Other 57 73

$ 284 $ 480

(a) Net of valuation allowances of $54 million and $38 million, respectively.

December 31,
(In millions of dollars) 2008 2007

Balance sheet classifications:
Current assets $ 147 $247
Other assets $1,146 $519

A reconciliation from the U.S. Federal statutory income tax rate to MMC•s effective income tax rate is
shown below.

For the Years Ended December 31, 2008 2007 2006
% % %

U.S. Federal statutory rate 35.0 35.0 35.0
U.S. state and local income taxes „

net of U.S. Federal income tax benefit (27.5) 2.9 2.5
Differences related to non-U.S. operations (67.2) (3.0) (7.9)
Goodwill impairment 222.0 „ „
Meals and entertainment 11.0 1.1 1.1
Dividends paid to employees „ (.8) (.5)
Other (1.3) (.3) (.4)

Effective tax rate 172.0 34.9 29.8

Valuation allowances had a net increase of $16 million in 2008 and $23 million in 2007. During the
respective years, adjustments of the beginning of the year balances of valuation allowances increased
income tax expense by $8 million in 2008 and $13 million in 2007. None of the cumulative valuation
allowances relate to amounts which if realized would reduce goodwill or increase contributed capital in
the future. Approximately 80% of MMC•s net operating loss carryforwards expire over various periods
from 2009 through 2028, and others are unlimited. In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets,
MMC considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will
not be realized and adjusts the valuation allowance accordingly. MMC evaluates all significant
available positive and negative evidence, including the existence of losses in recent years and its
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U.S. Plans

The following schedules provide information concerning MMC•s U.S. defined benefit pension plans and
postretirement benefit plans:

December 31,
(In millions of dollars)

U.S. Pension Benefits
U.S. Postretirement

Benefits
2008 2007 2008 2007

Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 3,111 $3,264 $ 173 $ 192
Service cost 73 82 4 4
Interest cost 210 196 12 11
Actuarial (gain) loss 159 (297) 6 (19)
Medicare Part D subsidy „ „ 5 „
Benefits paid (142) (134) (15) (15)

Benefit obligation at end of year $ 3,411 $3,111 $ 185 $ 173

Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 3,532 $3,382 $ „ $ „
Actual return on plan assets (649) 264 „ „
Employer contributions 20 20 10 15
Medicare Part D subsidy „ „ 5 „
Benefits paid (142) (134) (15) (15)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 2,761 $3,532 $ „ $ „

Funded status $ (650) $ 421 $(185) $(173)

Net (liability) asset recognized $ (650) $ 421 $(185) $(173)

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets
under SFAS 158:

Noncurrent assets $ „ $ 747 $ „ $ „
Current liabilities (21) (20) (11) (13)
Noncurrent liabilities (629) (306) (174) (160)

$ (650) $ 421 $(185) $(173)

Amounts not yet recognized in net periodic cost and
included in accumulated other comprehensive
income:

Unrecognized prior service credit $ 120 $ 174 $ 52 $ 65
Unrecognized net actuarial loss (1,270) (195) (15) (9)

Total amounts included in AOCI $(1,150) $ (21) $ 37 $ 56

Cumulative employer contributions in excess of net
periodic cost 500 442 (222) (229)

Net amount recognized in consolidated balance sheet $ (650) $ 421 $(185) $(173)

Accumulated benefit obligation at December 31 $ 3,309 $3,015 $ „ $ „

December 31,
(In millions of dollars)

U.S. Pension
Benefits

U.S. Postretirement
Benefits

2008 2007 2008 2007

Reconciliation of unrecognized prior service credit:
Amount disclosed as of prior year end $174 $228 $ 65 $78
Recognized as component of net periodic benefit credit (54) (54) (13) (13)

Amount at end of year $120 $174 $ 52 $65
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The components of the net periodic benefit cost for the U.S. defined benefit and other postretirement
benefit plans are as follows:

U.S. Pension
U.S. Postretirement

Benefits
For the Years Ended December 31,
(In millions of dollars) 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Service cost $ 73 $ 82 $ 83 $4 $4 $4
Interest cost 211 196 182 12 11 11
Expected return on plan assets (289) (267) (252) „ „ „
Amortization of prior service credit (54) (54) (54) (13) (13) (14)
Recognized actuarial loss 22 82 96 „ 2 3

Net periodic benefit cost $ (37) $ 39 $ 55 $3 $4 $4

In December 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003
became law. The net periodic benefit cost shown above for 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively,
includes the subsidy.

The assumed health care cost trend rate for Medicare eligibles was approximately 10.5% in 2008,
gradually declining to 5% in 2019, and the rate for non-Medicare eligibles was 9.5% in 2008, gradually
declining to 5% in 2017. Assumed health care cost trend rates have a small effect on the amounts
reported for the U.S. health care plans because MMC caps its share of health care trend at 5%. A one
percentage point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects:

(In millions of dollars)
1 Percentage
Point Increase

1 Percentage
Point Decrease

Effect on total of service and interest cost components $„ $„
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation $„ $(5)
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The weighted average actuarial assumptions utilized in determining the above amounts for the
non-U.S. defined benefit and other non-U.S. postretirement plans as of the end of the year are as
follows:

December 31,
(In millions of dollars)

Non-U.S. Pension
Benefits

Non-U.S.
Postretirement

Benefits

2008 2007 2008 2007

Weighted average assumptions:
Discount rate (for expense) 5.7% 5.1% 5.7% 5.2%
Expected return on plan assets 8.0% 8.0% „ „
Rate of compensation increase (for expense) 4.0% 4.0% „ „
Discount rate (for benefit obligation) 6.4% 5.7% 6.9% 5.7%
Rate of compensation increase (for benefit obligation) 4.5% 4.0% „ „

The non-U.S. defined benefit plans do not have any direct or indirect ownership of MMC common
stock.

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets for the
non-U.S. pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were $443
million, $390 million and $270 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2008 and $338 million, $291
million and $207 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2007.

The projected benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets for non-U.S. pension plans with projected
benefit obligations in excess of plan assets was $3.0 billion and $2.7 billion, respectively, as of
December 31, 2008 and $430 million and $288 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2007.

The components of the net periodic benefit cost for the non-U.S. defined benefit and other
postretirement benefit plans and the curtailment, settlement and termination expenses under SFAS 88
are as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31,
(In millions of dollars)

Non-U.S. Pension
Benefits

Non-U.S. Postretirement
Benefits

2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Service cost $ 127 $ 148 $ 152 $2 $2 $2
Interest cost 380 369 312 5 4 3
Expected return on plan assets (556) (532) (443) „ „ „
Amortization of prior service credit (2) (2) „ (1) „ „
Recognized actuarial loss 43 125 141 1 „ 1

Net periodic benefit cost $ (8) $ 108 $ 162 $7 $6 $6

Settlement (gain)/loss (1) (2) 4 „ „ „
Curtailment (gain)/loss 1 (2) 3 „ „ „
Special termination benefits 3 2 5 „ „ „

Total (credit) cost $ (5) $ 106 $ 174 $7 $6 $6

The assumed health care cost trend rate was approximately 7.3% in 2008, gradually declining to 5.2%
in 2013. Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the
non-U.S. health care plans. A one percentage point change in assumed health care cost trend rates
would have the following effects:

(In millions of dollars)
1 Percentage
Point Increase

1 Percentage
Point Decrease

Effect on total of service and interest cost components $1 $(1)
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation $8 $(7)
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Estimated Future Benefit Payments

MMC•s estimated future benefit payments for its pension and postretirement benefits (without reduction
for Medicare subsidy receipts) at December 31, 2008 are as follows:

December 31,
(In millions of dollars)

Pension Benefits
Postretirement

Benefits

U.S. Non-U.S. U.S. Non-U.S.

2009 $ 164 $ 406 $14 $ 3
2010 175 210 14 4
2011 186 222 15 4
2012 197 241 15 4
2013 210 246 16 4
2014-2018 $1,257 $1,458 $92 $24

Contribution Plans

MMC maintains certain defined contribution plans for its employees, including the Marsh & McLennan
Companies, Inc. 401(K) Savings & Investment Plan (•SIPŽ), that are qualified under U.S. tax laws.
Under these plans, eligible employees may contribute a percentage of their base salary, subject to
certain limitations. For the SIP, MMC matches a fixed portion of the employees• contributions and may
also make additional discretionary contributions. The SIP contains an Employee Stock Ownership Plan
under U.S. tax law and plan assets of which approximately $321 million at December 31, 2008 and
$365 million at December 31, 2007 were invested in MMC common stock. If a participant does not
choose an investment direction for his or her future MMC matching contributions, they are
automatically invested in the Putnam Fixed Income Fund or a Barclays Global Investors Lifepath
Portfolio that most closely matches the participant•s retirement year. The cost of these defined
contribution plans related to continuing operations was $53 million, $46 million, and $45 million for
2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

9. Stock Benefit Plans

MMC maintains multiple share-based payment arrangements under which employees are awarded
grants of restricted stock, stock options and other forms of stock-based payment arrangements.
Effective July 1, 2005, MMC adopted the recognition and measurement provisions of SFAS No. 123
(revised 2004), •Share-Based PaymentŽ (•SFAS 123 (R)Ž), using the modified-prospective transition
method. Under this transition method, compensation cost includes compensation cost for all share-
based payment arrangements granted prior to but not yet vested as of July 1, 2005, based on the grant
date fair value and expense attribution methodology determined in accordance with the original
provisions of SFAS 123, and compensation cost for all share-based payment arrangements granted
subsequent to June 30, 2005, based on the grant-date fair value and expense attribution methodology
determined in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123 (R).

MMC Incentive and Stock Award Plans

In 2000, the Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc. 2000 Employee Incentive and Stock Award Plan (the
•2000 Employee PlanŽ) and the Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc. 2000 Senior Executive Incentive
and Stock Award Plan (the •2000 Executive PlanŽ) were adopted. The types of awards permitted under
these plans include stock options, restricted stock, stock bonus units, restricted and deferred stock
units payable in MMC common stock or cash, and other stock-based and performance-based awards.
The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (the •Compensation CommitteeŽ) determines,
at its discretion, which affiliates may participate in the plans, which eligible employees will receive
awards, the types of awards to be received, and the terms and conditions thereof. The right of an
employee to receive an award may be subject to performance conditions as specified by the
Compensation Committee. The 2000 Plans contain provisions which, in the event of a change in
control of MMC, may accelerate the vesting of the awards. Awards relating to not more than
80,000,000 shares of common stock may be made over the life of the 2000 Employee Plan plus shares
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remaining unused under pre-existing employee stock plans. Awards relating to not more than
8,000,000 shares of common stock may be made over the life of the 2000 Executive Plan plus shares
remaining unused under pre-existing executive stock plans.

Stock Options: Options granted under the 2000 Plans may be designated as either incentive stock
options or non-qualified stock options. The Compensation Committee determines the terms and
conditions of the option, including the time or times at which an option may be exercised, the methods
by which such exercise price may be paid, and the form of such payment. Options are generally
granted with an exercise price equal to the market value of MMC•s common stock at the date of grant.
These option awards generally vest 25% per annum and have a contractual term of 10 years. On
March 16, 2005, MMC began granting options that provide for a market-based triggering event before
a vested option can be exercised. The terms and conditions of these stock option awards provide that
(i) options will vest at a rate of 25% a year beginning one year from the date of grant and (ii) each
vested tranche will only become exercisable if the market price of MMC•s stock appreciates to a level
of 15% above the exercise price of the option and maintains that level for at least ten (10) consecutive
trading days after the award has vested. MMC accounts for these awards under SFAS 123(R) as





Restricted Stock Units: Restricted stock units may be awarded under MMC•s Incentive and Stock
Award plans. The Compensation Committee determines the restrictions on such units, when the
restrictions lapse, when the units vest and are paid, and upon what terms the units are forfeited. The
cost of these awards is amortized over the vesting period, which is generally three years. Beginning
with awards granted in 2006, awards to senior executives and other employees may include three-year
performance-based restricted stock units and three-year service-based restricted stock units. The
payout of performance-based restricted stock units (payable in shares of MMC common stock) may
range from 0…200% of the number of units granted, based on the achievement of objective,
pre-determined MMC or operating company performance measures over a three-year performance
period. MMC accounts for these awards as performance condition restricted stock units. The
performance condition is not considered in the determination of grant date fair value of such awards.
Compensation cost is recognized over the performance period based on management•s estimate of
the number of units expected to vest and is adjusted to reflect the actual number of shares paid out at
the end of the three-year performance period. Dividend equivalents are paid on both performance-
based and service-based restricted stock units prior to payout, based on the initial grant amount.

A summary of the status of MMC•s restricted stock unit awards as of December 31, 2008 and changes
during the period then ended is presented below:

Shares

Weighted Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

Non-vested balance at January 1, 2008 3,971,262 $30.22
Granted 5,777,658 $26.16
Vested (955,896) $29.79
Forfeited (503,856) $28.90

Non-vested balance at December 31, 2008 8,289,168 $27.52

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of MMC•s restricted stock units granted during the years
ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 was $29.60 and $30.30, respectively. The total fair value of
MMC•s restricted stock units distributed during the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006
was $22.4 million, $7.4 million and $5.8 million, respectively.

Deferred Stock Units: Deferred stock units may be awarded under MMC•s incentive and stock award
plans. The Compensation Committee determines the restrictions on such units, when the restrictions
lapse, when the units vest and are paid, and upon what terms the units are forfeited. The cost of these
awards is amortized over the vesting period, which is generally three years.

A summary of the status of MMC•s deferred stock unit awards as of December 31, 2008 and changes
during the period then ended is presented below:

Shares

Weighted Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

Non-vested balance at January 1, 2008 9,818,747 $29.60
Granted 3,456,528 $26.56
Vested (2,795,935) $30.30
Forfeited (1,068,311) $29.90

Non-vested balance at December 31, 2008 9,411,029 $28.24

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of MMC•s deferred stock units granted during the years
ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 was $28.83 and $29.36, respectively. The total fair value of
MMC•s deferred stock units distributed during the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006
was $71.6 million, $75.6 million, and $53.5 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2008, there was $288 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to
MMC•s restricted stock, restricted stock units and deferred stock unit awards.
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MMC Stock Purchase Plans

In May 1999, MMC•s stockholders approved an employee stock purchase plan (the •1999 PlanŽ) to
replace the 1994 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the •1994 PlanŽ), which terminated on
September 30, 1999 following its fifth annual offering. Under the current terms of the plan, shares are
purchased four times during the plan year at a price that is 95% of the average market price on each
quarterly purchase date. Under the 1999 Plan, after including the available remaining unused shares in
the 1994 Plan and reducing the shares available by 10,000,000 consistent with the MMC Board of
Directors• action in March 2007, no more than 35,600,000 shares of MMC•s common stock may be
sold. Employees purchased 1,361,787 shares during the year ended December 31, 2008. At
December 31, 2008, 8,564,609 shares were available for issuance under the 1999 Plan. Under the
1995 MMC Stock Purchase Plan for International Employees (the •International PlanŽ), after reflecting



Assets and liabilities utilizing Level 2 inputs include corporate and municipal bonds.

Level 3. Financial assets and liabilities, whose values are based on prices, or valuation techniques that
require inputs that are both unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement. These
inputs reflect management•s own assumptions about the assumptions a market participant would use
in pricing the asset or liability (examples include private equity investments, certain commercial
mortgage whole loans, and long-dated or complex derivatives including certain foreign exchange
options and long-dated options on gas and power).

The Company does not have any Level 3 assets or liabilities.

Valuation Techniques

Equity Securities & Mutual Funds

Investments for which market quotations are readily available are valued at the sale price on their



The consolidated statements of income include net rental costs of $468 million, $511 million and $509
million for 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively, after deducting rentals from subleases ($8 million in
2008, $23 million in 2007 and $26 million in 2006). The net rental costs disclosed above exclude rental
costs and sublease income for previously accrued restructuring charges related to vacated space.

At December 31, 2008, the aggregate future minimum rental commitments under all noncancelable
operating lease agreements are as follows:

For the Years Ending December 31,
(In millions of dollars)

Gross
Rental

Commitments

Rentals
from

Subleases

Net
Rental

Commitments

2009 $ 434 $ 48 $ 386
2010 $ 411 $ 47 $ 364
2011 $ 362 $ 44 $ 318
2012 $ 331 $ 44 $ 287
2013 $ 288 $ 43 $ 245
Subsequent years $1,609 $272 $1,337

MMC has entered into agreements with various service companies to outsource certain information
systems activities and responsibilities and processing activities. Under these agreements, MMC is
required to pay minimum annual service charges. Additional fees may be payable depending upon the
volume of transactions processed, with all future payments subject to increases for inflation. At
December 31, 2008, the aggregate fixed future minimum commitments under these agreements are as
follows:

For the Years Ending December 31,
(In millions of dollars)

Future
Minimum

Commitments

2009 $ 54
2010 24
2011 22
Subsequent years 45

$145

12. Debt

MMC•s outstanding debt is as follows:

December 31,
(In millions of dollars) 2008 2007

Short-term:
Current portion of long-term debt $ 408 $ 260

Long-term:
Senior notes … 7.125% due 2009 $ 400 $ 400
Senior notes … 6.25% due 2012 (5.1% effective interest rate) 257 260
Senior notes … 3.625% due 2008 „ 250
Senior notes … 4.850% due 2013 249 249
Senior notes … 5.875% due 2033 296 296
Senior notes … 5.375% due 2014 648 647
Senior notes … 5.15% due 2010 549 548
Senior notes … 5.75% due 2015 747 746
Mortgage … 5.70% due 2035 454 461
Other 2 7

3,602 3,864
Less current portion 408 260

$3,194 $3,604
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securities sold is determined using the average cost method for equity securities. The gains and losses
described above are included in investment income (loss) in the consolidated statements of income.

MMC also holds investments in certain private equity fund partnerships which are accounted for using
the equity method and other investments that are held at cost. MMC recorded gains (losses) from such
investments of $(9) million, $148 million and $166 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The
loss in 2008 included a $6.3 million loss related to the decline in value of securities that were carried at
cost. These losses were other than temporary. During 2007 and 2006, MMC did not record any losses
related to the decline in value of its equity method investments or investments carried at cost that were
other than temporary. The gains and losses described above are included in investment income (loss)
in the consolidated statements of income.

In 2007, MMC•s investment in Trident II, L.P. met the thresholds which require disclosure of
summarized financial information under Regulation S-X. The consolidated information presented below
reflects the most recently available financial statements at September 30, 2008 and December 31,
2007 and 2006.

(In millions of dollars)
September 30,

2008
December 31,

2007
December 31,

2006

Assets
Investments at fair value $ 785 $903 $1,004
Other assets 42 47 152

Total assets $ 827 $950 $1,156
Liabilities „ „ „

Net assets (Partners• Capital) $ 827 $950 $1,156

For the nine months ended September 30
(In millions of dollars) 2008 2007 2006

Investment income $ 21 $ 19 $ 19
Expenses 1 2 3

Net investment income 20 17 16
Realized gains 6 154 202
Unrealized appreciation (118) 112 59

Net (decrease) increase in net assets $ (92) $283 $ 277

Short-term and Long-term Debt : The fair value of MMC•s short-term debt, which consists primarily of
term debt maturing within the next year, approximates its carrying value. The estimated fair value of
MMC•s long-term debt is based on discounted future cash flows using current interest rates available
for debt with similar terms and remaining maturities.

14. Integration and Restructuring Costs

Actions Initiated in 2008

In 2008, MMC implemented restructuring actions resulting in charges totaling $262 million, primarily
related to severance and benefits, and other related charges totaling $50 million related to the loss of
$28 million on the sale of the U.K. restructuring businesses and accelerated amortization. These costs
were incurred as follows: Risk and Insurance Services„$218 million, Consulting„$40 million, Risk
Consulting & Technology„$45 million, and Corporate„$9 million. These activities resulted in the
elimination of approximately 1,660 positions at Marsh, 360 positions at Guy Carpenter, 490 positions at
Mercer, 300 positions at Risk Consulting & Technology and 85 positions at Corporate. In addition,
Marsh outsourced approximately 700 positions as part of its U.K. back office outsourcing initiative. As
of December 31, 2008, the remaining liability for the restructuring initiatives were approximately $97
million primarily related to severance and benefit payments and future lease obligations.
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Actions Initiated Prior to 2008

In 2008, MMC recorded $73 million of restructuring charges and other related charges of $3 million,
including a charge of $62 million for future rent and real estate costs to exit five floors in MMC•s New
York headquarters building that was part of the restructuring plan announced in 2006, and $11 million
of charges related to the estimated costs of future rent associated with previously vacated properties in
the U.K. and other locations. These amounts were included in corporate expenses. As of
December 31, 2008, the remaining liability for the restructuring initiatives were approximately $126
million primarily related to future severance and benefit payments and estimated future lease
obligations.

The expenses associated with the restructuring plans are included in compensation and benefits and
other operating expenses in the consolidated statements of income, and liabilities associated with
these initiatives are classified on the consolidated balance sheets as accounts payable, other liabilities,
or accrued salaries, depending on the nature of the items.

15. Common Stock

In August 2007, MMC entered into an $800 million accelerated share repurchase agreement with a
financial institution counterparty. Under the terms of the agreement, MMC paid the full $800 million
purchase price and took delivery from the counterparty of an initial tranche of 21,320,530 shares of
MMC common stock. This number of shares was the quotient of the $800 million purchase price
divided by a contractual •capŽ price of $37.5225 per share. Based on the market price of MMC•s
common stock over the subsequent settlement period, in March 2008 the counterparty delivered to
MMC an additional 10,751,100 shares for no additional payment and the transaction was concluded.
MMC thus repurchased a total of 32,071,630 shares at average price per share to MMC of $24.9442.
The repurchased shares were reflected as an increase to treasury shares (a decrease in shares
outstanding) on the respective delivery dates. This transaction was effected under a $1.5 billion share
repurchase authorization granted by MMC•s Board of Directors in August 2007. MMC remains
authorized to repurchase additional shares of its common stock up to a value of $700 million. There is
no time limit on this authorization.

In May 2007, MMC entered into a $500 million accelerated share repurchase agreement with a
financial institution counterparty. Under the terms of the agreement, MMC paid the full $500 million
purchase price and took delivery from the counterparty of an initial tranche of 13,464,749 shares of
MMC common stock. Based on the market price of MMC•s common stock over the subsequent
settlement period, in July 2007 the counterparty delivered to MMC an additional 2,555,519 shares for
no additional payment and the transaction was concluded. MMC thus repurchased a total of
16,020,268 shares in the transaction, for a total cost of $500 million and an average price per share to
MMC of $31.2105. The repurchased shares were reflected as an increase in treasury shares (a
decrease in shares outstanding) on the respective delivery dates. This transaction was effected under
a $500 million share repurchase authorization granted by MMC•s Board of Directors in May 2007.

16. Claims, Lawsuits and Other Contingencies

MMC and Marsh Litigation and Regulatory Matters

Brokerage Compensation Practices Settlement

In January 2005, MMC and its subsidiary Marsh Inc. entered into an agreement with the New York
State Attorney General (•NYAGŽ) and the New York State Insurance Department to settle a civil
complaint filed in New York State court by NYAG in October 2004 (the •NYAG LawsuitŽ) and a related
citation issued by the Insurance Department. Among other things, the NYAG Lawsuit and the citation
had alleged that Marsh•s use of market service agreements with various insurance companies entailed



Following the filing of the NYAG Lawsuit, various state regulators and attorneys general initiated
investigations relating to the conduct alleged in the NYAG Lawsuit. Civil actions were filed against
MMC, Marsh and certain Marsh subsidiaries by the State of Connecticut in January 2005, the State of
Florida in March 2005 and the State of Ohio in August 2007. The complaints in these actions sought a
variety of monetary damages and injunctive and other equitable relief and were based on a variety of
legal theories, including unfair trade practices, antitrust, negligent misrepresentation, breach of
fiduciary duty and state RICO laws. In the fourth quarter of 2008, MMC entered into a settlement with
attorneys general in the states of Florida, Hawaii, Maryland, Michigan, Oregon, Texas and West
Virginia; the Commonwealths of Massachusetts and Pennsylvania; and the Florida Department of
Financial Services and the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation. As part of that settlement, the civil
lawsuit brought by the State of Florida has been dismissed. The actions by the State of Connecticut
and the State of Ohio, which assert claims based on unfair trade practices and antitrust, remain
pending.

Numerous private party lawsuits have been commenced against MMC, one or more of its subsidiaries,
and their current and former directors and officers, relating to matters alleged in the NYAG Lawsuit.
These lawsuits include the following:

Policyholder Claims

� Various putative class actions purportedly brought on behalf of policyholders were
consolidated into two actions in the U.S. District Court for the District of New Jersey (one on
behalf of a purported class of "commercial" policyholders and the second on behalf of a
purported class of "employee benefit" policyholders). The actions alleged a variety of legal
theories, including those related to state tort, contract, fiduciary duty, federal and state
antitrust and RICO theories, and sought a variety of remedies, including unspecified monetary



market service agreements and business practices. Plaintiffs also allege that MMC failed to
disclose alleged anti-competitive and illegal practices at Marsh, such as •bid-riggingŽ and
soliciting fictitious quotes. Plaintiffs allege violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 11 of the Securities Act of 1933 and seek
unspecified damages. MMC has responded to the complaint and discovery in this matter is
ongoing.

�







� From 1980 to 1983, MMC owned indirectly the English & American Insurance Company
(•E&AŽ), which was a member of the ILU. The ILU required MMC to guarantee a portion of
E&A•s obligations. After E&A became insolvent in 1993, the ILU agreed to discharge the
guarantee in exchange for MMC•s agreement to post an evergreen letter of credit that is
available to pay claims by policyholders on certain E&A policies issued through the ILU and



Selected information about MMC•s operating segments and geographic areas of operation follows:

For the Years Ended
December 31,
(In millions of dollars) Revenue

Operating
Income
(Loss)

Total
Assets

Depreciation
and

Amortization
Capital

Expenditures

2008…
Risk and Insurance Services $ 5,466(a) $ 460 $ 7,704 $188 $135
Consulting 5,196(b) 555 4,156 111 113
Risk Consulting & Technology 993(c) (497)(f) 1,887 82 50

Total Operating Segments 11,655 518 13,747 381 298

Corporate/Eliminations (68) (255) 1,459(e) 23 89
Assets of Discontinued Operations „ „ „ „ „

Total Consolidated $11,587 $ 263 $15,206 $404 $387

2007…
Risk and Insurance Services $ 5,400(a) $ 342 $ 9,091 $214 $136
Consulting 4,884(b) 606 4,438 94 99
Risk Consulting & Technology 987(c) 98 2,538 80 43

Total Operating Segments 11,271 1,046 16,067 388 278

Corporate/Eliminations (94) (200) 1,292(e) 19 85
Assets of Discontinued Operations „ „ „ „ „

Total Consolidated $11,177 $ 846 $17,359 $407 $363

2006…
Risk and Insurance Services $ 5,263(a) $ 477 $ 9,651 $230 $133
Consulting 4,224(b) 465 3,804 92 88
Risk Consulting & Technology 973(c) 143 2,363 90 46

Total Operating Segments 10,460 1,085 15,818 412 267
Corporate/Eliminations (120) (137)(d) 398(e) 11 6
Assets of Discontinued Operations „ „ 1,921 „ 34

Total Consolidated $10,340 $ 948 $18,137 $423 $307

(a) Includes inter-segment revenue ($5 million in 2008, $7 million in 2007 and $0 million in 2006) and interest
income on fiduciary funds ($139 million in 2008, $177 million in 2007 and $168 million in 2006).

(b) Includes inter-segment revenue ($52 million in 2008, $79 million in 2007 and $108 million in 2006).
(c) Includes inter-segment revenue ($11 million in 2008, $8 million in 2007 and $12 million in 2006).
(d) Corporate expenses in 2006 include a $74 million credit for the gain from the sale of five (5) floors of MMC•s

New York headquarters building.
(e) Corporate assets primarily include insurance recoverables, pension related assets, the owned portion of

MMC•s headquarters building and intercompany eliminations.
(f) Includes a goodwill impairment charge of $540 million.
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Operating Segment Revenue by Product is as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31,
(In millions of dollars) 2008 2007 2006

Risk and Insurance Services
Marsh $ 4,632 $ 4,498 $ 4,383
Guy Carpenter 834 902 880

Total Risk and Insurance Services 5,466 5,400 5,263

Consulting
Mercer 3,642 3,368 3,020
Oliver Wyman Group 1,554 1,516 1,204

Total Consulting 5,196 4,884 4,224

Risk Consulting & Technology 993 987 973

Total Operating Segments 11,655 11,271 10,460

Corporate/Eliminations (68) (94) (120)

Total $11,587 $11,177 $10,340

Information by geographic area is as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31,
(In millions of dollars) 2008 2007 2006

Revenue
United States $ 5,398 $ 5,379 $ 5,229
United Kingdom 1,984 2,099 1,990
Continental Europe 2,064 1,794 1,540
Other 2,209 1,999 1,701

11,655 11,271 10,460

Corporate/Eliminations (68) (94) (120)

$11,587 $11,177 $10,340

December 31,
(In millions of dollars) 2008 2007 2006

Fixed Assets, Net
United States $ 603 $ 585 $ 593
United Kingdom 148 208 224
Continental Europe 86 90 80
Other 132 109 93

$ 969 $ 992 $ 990
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc.
New York, New York

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Marsh & McLennan Companies,
Inc. and subsidiaries (the •CompanyŽ) as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related
consolidated statements of income, stockholders' equity and comprehensive income, and of cash flows



Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc. and Subsidiaries
SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA AND
SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

(In millions of dollars, except per share figures)
2008:
Revenue $3,039 $3,048 $2,838 $2,662
Operating (loss) income $ (88) $ 182 $ 70 $ 99
(Loss) income from continuing operations $ (215) $ 55 $ 18 $ 73
(Loss) income from discontinued operations $ 5 $ 10 $ (26) $ 7
Net (Loss) income $ (210) $ 65 $ (8) $ 80

Basic Per Share Data:
(Loss) income from continuing operations $ (0.41) $ 0.11 $ 0.04 $ 0.14
Income (loss) from discontinued operations $ 0.01 $ 0.02 $ (0.06) $ 0.02
Net (loss) income $ (0.40) $ 0.13 $ (0.02) $ 0.16

Diluted Per Share Data:
(Loss) income from continuing operations $ (0.41) $ 0.11 $ 0.03 $ 0.14
Income (loss) from discontinued operations $ 0.01 $ 0.02 $ (0.05) $ 0.01
Net (loss) income $ (0.40) $ 0.13 $ (0.02) $ 0.15

Dividends Paid Per Share $ 0.20 $ 0.20 $ 0.20 $ 0.20

2007:
Revenue $2,761 $2,785 $2,716 $2,915
Operating income $ 336 $ 239 $ 116 $ 155
Income from continuing operations $ 228 $ 140 $ 80 $ 90
Income (loss) from discontinued operations $ 40 $ 37 $1,865 $ (5)
Net income $ 268 $ 177 $1,945 $ 85

Basic Per Share Data:
Income from continuing operations $ 0.41 $ 0.26 $ 0.15 $ 0.17
Income from discontinued operations $ 0.08 $ 0.06 $ 3.49 $ „
Net income $ 0.49 $ 0.32 $ 3.64 $ 0.17

Diluted Per Share Data:
Income from continuing operations $ 0.41 $ 0.25 $ 0.15 $ 0.17
Income (loss) from discontinued operations $ 0.06 $ 0.06 $ 3.45 $ (0.01)
Net income $ 0.47 $ 0.31 $ 3.60 $ 0.16

Dividends Paid Per Share $ 0.19 $ 0.19 $ 0.19 $ 0.19

As of February 20, 2009, there were 8,505 stockholders of record.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial
Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures. Based on their evaluation, as of the end of the period
covered by this annual report on Form 10-K, MMC•s chief executive officer and chief financial officer
have concluded that MMC•s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) or
15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) are effective.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting.

(a) Management•s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.

MANAGEMENT•S ANNUAL REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc. is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for MMC. MMC•s internal control over
financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles.

MMC•s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures relating to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of MMC; the recording of all necessary transactions to permit the preparation
of MMC•s consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles; the proper authorization of receipts and expenditures in accordance with authorizations of
MMC•s management and directors; and the prevention or timely detection of the unauthorized
acquisition, use or disposition of assets that could have a material effect on MMC•s consolidated
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management evaluated the effectiveness of MMC•s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2008 under the supervision and with the participation of the Company•s principal
executives and financial officers. In making this evaluation, management used the criteria set forth by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control …
Integrated Framework. Based on its evaluation, management determined that MMC maintained
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm that audited and reported
on MMC•s consolidated financial statements included in this annual report on Form 10-K, also issued
an attestation report on the effectiveness of MMC•s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2008.
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(b) Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc.
New York, New York

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc.
and subsidiaries (the •CompanyŽ) as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established inInternal
Control„Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. The Company•s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal
control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, included in the accompanying management•s annual report on internal control over
financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company•s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained
in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial



(c) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.

There have been no changes in MMC•s internal control over financial reporting during the quarter
ended December 31, 2008 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect,
MMC•s internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.

PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

Information as to the directors and nominees for the board of directors of MMC is incorporated
herein by reference to the material set forth under the heading •Item 1„Election of DirectorsŽ in the
2009 Proxy Statement.

The executive officers of MMC are Ben Allen, Orlando D. Ashford, Peter J. Beshar, M. Michele
Burns, John Drzik, Brian Duperreault, E. Scott Gilbert, Daniel S. Glaser, David Nadler, Vanessa A.
Wittman and Peter Zaffino. Information with respect to these individuals is provided in Part I, Item 1
above under the heading •Executive Officers of MMCŽ.

The information set forth in the 2009 Proxy Statement in the sections •Transactions with
Management and Others; Other Information„Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting
ComplianceŽ, •Corporate Governance„Codes of ConductŽ and •Board of Directors and Committees„
Committees„Audit CommitteeŽ is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information set forth in the sections •Board of Directors and Committees„Director
CompensationŽ and •Compensation of Executive OfficersŽ in the 2009 Proxy Statement is incorporated
herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters.

The information set forth in the sections •Stock Ownership of Management and Certain Beneficial
OwnersŽ and •Equity Compensation Plan InformationŽ in the 2009 Proxy Statement is incorporated
herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The information set forth in the sections •Corporate Governance„Director IndependenceŽ,
•Corporate Governance„Review of Related-Person TransactionsŽ and •Transactions with
Management and Others; Other InformationŽ in the 2009 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by
reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The information set forth under the heading •Ratification of Selection of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm„Fees of Independent Registered Public Accounting FirmŽ in the 2009 Proxy
Statement is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

The following documents are filed as a part of this report:

1. Consolidated Financial Statements:

Consolidated Statements of Income for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2008

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2008 and 2007

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2008

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders• Equity and Comprehensive Income for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2008

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Other:

Selected Quarterly Financial Data and Supplemental Information (Unaudited) for fiscal years
2008 and 2007

Five-Year Statistical Summary of Operations





(10.13) *Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc. 2000 Employee Incentive and Stock Award Plan
(incorporated by reference to MMC•s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2001)

(10.14) *Form of Awards under the 2000 Employee Incentive and Stock Award Plan (incorporated
by reference to MMC•s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2004)

(10.15) *Additional Forms of Awards under the 2000 Employee Incentive and Stock Award Plan
(incorporated by reference to MMC•s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 2005)

(10.16) *Form of Long-term Incentive Award under the 2000 Senior Executive Incentive and Stock
Award Plan and the 2000 Employee Incentive and Stock Award Plan (incorporated by
reference to MMC•s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,
2006)

(10.17) *Form of 2007 Long-term Incentive Award under the 2000 Senior Executive Incentive and
Stock Award Plan and the 2000 Employee Incentive and Stock Award Plan (incorporated
by reference to MMC•s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,
2007)

(10.18) *Form of 2008 Long-term Incentive Award under the 2000 Senior Executive Incentive and
Stock Award Plan and the 2000 Employee Incentive and Stock Award Plan (incorporated
by reference to MMC•s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,
2008)

(10.19) *Form of Deferred Stock Unit Award under the 2000 Senior Executive Incentive and Stock
Award Plan and the 2000 Employee Incentive and Stock Award Plan (incorporated by
reference to MMC•s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007)

(10.20) *Form of Deferred Stock Unit Award, dated as of January 1, 2009, under the 2000 Senior
Executive Incentive and Stock Award Plan and the 2000 Employee Incentive and Stock
Award Plan

(10.21) *Amendments to Certain MMC Equity-Based Awards Due to U.S. Tax Law Changes
Affecting Equity-Based Awards granted under the 2000 Senior Executive Incentive and
Stock Award Plan and the 2000 Employee Incentive and Stock Award Plan, effective
January 1, 2009

(10.22) *Section 409A Amendment Document, effective as of January 1, 2009

(10.23) *Marsh & McLennan Companies Supplemental Savings & Investment Plan (formerly the
Marsh & McLennan Companies Stock Investment Supplemental Plan), Amendment and
Restatement effective January 1, 2009

(10.24) *Marsh & McLennan Companies Special Severance Pay Plan (incorporated by reference
to MMC•s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1996)

(10.25) *Marsh & McLennan Companies Benefit Equalization Plan and Marsh & McLennan
Companies Supplemental Retirement Plan, as Amended and Restated effective
January 1, 2009

(10.26) *Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc. Form of Senior Executive Severance Pay Plan
(incorporated by reference to MMC•s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter
ended March 31, 2008)

(10.27) *Marsh & McLennan Companies Senior Management Incentive Compensation Plan
(incorporated by reference to MMC•s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1994)

(10.28) *Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc. Directors Stock Compensation Plan-January 1,
2009 Restatement

(10.29) *Description of compensation arrangements for non-executive directors of MMC
(incorporated by reference to MMC•s Quarterly Report on Form 10-K for the quarter ended
March 31, 2007)

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit pursuant to
Item 15(b) of Form 10-K.
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(10.30) *Employment Agreement, dated as of December 19, 2005, between Marsh & McLennan
Companies, Inc. and M. Michele Burns (incorporated by reference to MMC•s Current
Report on Form 8-K dated December 16, 2005)

(10.31) *Amendment No. 1, dated as of September 25, 2006, to Employment Agreement, dated
December 19, 2005, between Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc. and M. Michele Burns
(incorporated by reference to MMC•s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 2006)

(10.32) *Amendment No. 2, dated as of December 12, 2008, to Employment Agreement, dated
December 19, 2005, between Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc. and M. Michele Burns

(10.33) *Employment Agreement, dated as of January 29, 2008, between Marsh & McLennan
Companies, Inc. and Brian Duperreault (incorporated by reference to MMC•s Current
Report on Form 8-K dated January 29, 2008)

(10.34) *Letter Agreement, dated August 18, 2008, between Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc.
and Vanessa A. Wittman (incorporated by reference to MMC•s Current Report on Form
8-K dated August 18, 2008)

(10.35) *Employment Agreement, dated as of September 25, 2006, between Marsh & McLennan
Companies, Inc. and Matthew B. Bartley (incorporated by reference to MMC•s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006)

(10.36) *Employment Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2005, by and between Marsh & McLennan
Companies, Inc. and David H. Spiller (incorporated by reference to MMC•s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2007)

(10.37) *Employment Agreement, dated as of July 20, 2005, by and between Marsh & McLennan
Companies, Inc. and Michael G. Cherkasky (incorporated by reference to MMC•s Current
Report on Form 8-K dated July 25, 2005)

(10.38) *Separation and Release Agreement, dated February 15, 2008, between Marsh &
McLennan Companies, Inc. and Michael G. Cherkasky (incorporated by reference to
MMC•s Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 15, 2008)

(10.39) Settlement Agreement, dated as of July 18, 2008, by and between Providence Equity
L.L.C., US Investigations Services, Inc., Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc., and
Michael G. Cherkasky (incorporated by reference to MMC•s Current Report on Form 8-K
dated July 18, 2008)

(10.40) *Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of Marsh & McLennan Affiliated
Fund, L.P. dated October 12, 1999 (incorporated by reference to MMC•s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001)

(12) Statement Re: Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

(14) Code of Ethics for Chief Executive and Senior Financial Officers (incorporated by
reference to MMC•s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002)



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.

MARSH & McLENNAN COMPANIES, INC.

Dated: February 27, 2009 By /S/ BRIAN DUPERREAULT

Brian Duperreault
President and Chief Executive Officer

Each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and appoints Luciana Fato, Kate
J. Brennan and Jean McConney, and each of them singly, such person•s lawful attorneys-in-fact and
agents, with full power to them and each of them to sign for such person, in the capacity indicated
below, any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated this 27th day
of February, 2009.
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Director February 27, 2009
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David A. Olsen
Director February 27, 2009
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Exhibit 32

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer

The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with the Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008 of Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc. (the •ReportŽ) for
the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the •Exchange ActŽ), and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United
States Code.

Brian Duperreault, the President and Chief Executive Officer, and Vanessa A. Wittman, the
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer, of Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc. each
certifies that, to the best of his or her knowledge:

1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange
Act; and



STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following graph compares the annual cumulative stockholder return for the five-year period ended
December 31, 2008 on: MMC common stock; the Standard & Poor•s 500 Stock Index; and a
management-constructed composite industry index. The graph assumes an investment of $100 on
December 31, 2003 in MMC common stock and each of the two indices, with dividends reinvested.
Returns on the industry index reflect allocation of the total amount invested among the constituent
stocks on a pro rata basis according to each issuer•s start-of-the-year market capitalization. The
Composite Industry Index consists of Aon Corporation, Arthur J. Gallagher & Co., Hewitt Associates,
Inc., Watson Wyatt Worldwide, Inc., and Willis Group Holdings Limited.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL STOCKHOLDER RETURN

($100 invested 12/31/03 with dividends reinvested)
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Shareholder Information

Annual Meeting
The 2009 annual meeting of shareholders will be
held at 10 a.m., Thursday, May 21, in the 2nd floor
auditorium of the McGraw-Hill Building,
1221 Avenue of the Americas, New York City.






